# Anthropogenic noise and noise-adjusted signals influence territorial-defense behaviors of male Baird's sparrows (*Centronyx bairdii*)

By Jessica Waldinger

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of The University of Manitoba In partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

# MASTER OF NATURAL RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

Department of Natural Resources Institute Clayton H. Riddell Faculty of Environment, Earth, and Resources University of Manitoba Winnipeg, Manitoba Copyright © 2020 by Jessica Waldinger

# ABSTRACT

Anthropogenic noise can constrain the acoustic communication of wildlife species through acoustic masking. However, many species display noise-adjusted signals which are theorized to provide release from acoustic masking. Yet, noise-adjusted signals may alter how receivers perceive and respond to signalers or fail to improve acoustic detection under noisy conditions. Thus, noise and noise-adjusted signals could have consequences for species that rely on acoustic communication for breeding. Baird's sparrow (Centronyx bairdii) is a grassland bird species that displays noise-adjusted songs. To investigate the potential impacts of noise and noise-adjusted songs on the intrasexual behavior of this species, I conducted repeated measures playback studies (n = 69 dyads) on free-living male Baird's sparrows. My research took place in the mixed-grass prairies of Southern Alberta during the species breeding season (May to July 2018 and 2019). To simulate territory intrusions in 'noisy' and 'quiet' conditions, I used a playback design to broadcast unadjusted and noise-adjusted Baird's sparrow song and oil-well drilling noise to individual male birds. To determine if song or noise treatment influenced male behavior, I compared the number of songs, calls, flybys over the experimental speaker, and song latency for each trial type. Focal male song latency was longer for unadjusted songs broadcast with noise versus without noise, suggesting that noise constrained acoustic detection. However, song latency for noise-adjusted songs broadcast with noise was similar to unadjusted songs broadcast in quiet conditions, suggesting that noise-adjusted songs are easier to detect acoustically in noise. I concluded that noise-adjusted songs partially restore acoustic communication in noisy conditions. The remaining focal male responses did not differ significantly by song treatment, suggesting that the song types are functionally equivalent. However, responses differed significantly between noise treatments. Focal males sang fewer songs whilst increasing alarm call vocalizations and engaged in more flybys under noisy conditions. These results suggest that noise heightens aggression in individuals or that males use different strategies to determine the location and fighting ability of rivals in the presence of noise. While it is uncertain what mechanism(s) underly these behavioral changes, I concluded that anthropogenic noise acts as a disturbance to this species.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To begin, I thank my advisor Nicky Koper. Nicky has played an integral role in my academic and professional growth by way of long email correspondences, numerous Skype/Zoom meetings, and lots of constructive comments on various drafts. Next, I thank my committee members, Miya Warrington and Jim Hare, for imparting their knowledge and expertise of animal behavior. Claire Curry, who might be best characterized as an honorary committee member, also deserves a big thank you. Without Claire's research, I would have been unable to do this project. Still, I can't forget some key players who helped make my fieldwork go as smoothly as possible. Thank you, Kevin Ellison, for being my master bander. Thank you, Tammy Keedwell, for coordinating fieldwork finance matters, particularly concerning our fleet of vehicles. Of course, I also thank everyone in my international support network for their encouragement, commiserating, and play (both digital and in real life). On the U.S. side, thank you, Pep, Axel, and Jayleb. On the Canadian side, thank you, Kyle Ritchie, Hannah Carey, Laura Burns, Paul des Brisay, and Alex Heathcote.

I also extend my gratitude for the funding that helped support me through this academic program. I thank the Manitoba Graduate Scholarship, the Sixth Prairie Conservation and Endangered Species Conference Fellowship, and the Alfred Rea Tucker Memorial Scholarship.

# **DEDICATION**

I dedicate my thesis to my father (Pep). Without his love, guidance, and unwavering support, my life's trajectory may have been very different. I'm glad he talked me out of pursuing a career in mortuary science.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ii
DEDICATION	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND OF CONSERVATION BEHAVIOR	1
RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	4
DISTURBANCES CAUSED BY OIL AND GAS DEVELOPMENT	5
ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION IN PASSERINES	7
CHALLENGES TO ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION	9
EVOLUTION OF ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION	10
ANTHROPOGENIC NOISE	11
ANTHROPOGENIC NOISE AND ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION	12
Amplitude Shifts	14
Spectral Shifts	14
Temporal Shifts	15
Multimodal Shifts	15
Are Noise-Induced Acoustic Adjustments Measurement Artifacts?	16
Are Noise-Induced Adjustments Adaptive?	16
STUDY SPECIES	18
Breeding and Territorial Behavior	18
Song Behavior	18
Song Behavior in Anthropogenic Noise	20
Population Trends, Threats, and Conservation Action	20

CHAPTER 3: IMPACTS OF NOISE AND NOISE-ADJUSTED SIGNALS ON AGONISTIC	
BEHAVIORS OF MALE BAIRD'S SPARROWS	22
ABSTRACT	22
INTRODUCTION	22
METHODS	25
Ethics	25
Site and Timing	25
Playback Trials	26
Experimental Setup	29
Playback Files	31
Ambient Noise	32
STATISTICAL ANALYSES	33
Fixed and Random Factors	33
Model Selection	33
R Packages Used	34
RESULTS	34
DISCUSSION	39
Noise-Adjusted Songs Improve Detection and Maintain Song Content	39
Noise Alters Territorial-Defense Behavior	40
CONCLUSION	43
SUMMARY AND MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS	44
REFERENCES	46
APPENDIX	72

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Experimental playback design. This table depicts an example of a focal male's stimuli Table 2. Final models of focal male responses selected for interpretation. All categorical variables were dummy coded: song treatment (0 = unadjusted vs. 1 = noise-adjusted), noise treatment (0 = quiet vs. 1 = noise), and treatment order (0 = quiet then noise vs. 1 = noise thenTable A3. Average Power (dB) and Peak Power (dB) values measured for four frequency bands from ambient noise recordings using Raven Pro (v. 1.5). This table displays only the values of ambient noise recordings when wind was < 5 km/h (50 of 135 dyads). The values from the right Table A4. AICc selection results from preliminary independent variable models. Selection Table A5. Preliminary models of independent variables inspected for significance. The categorical variable "Treatment Order" was dummy coded: (0 = quiet then noise vs. 1 = noiseTable A6. Preliminary models inspected for significant interactions. Models selected for interpretation (see Table 2) and models that failed to converge are not displayed. All categorical variables were dummy coded: song treatment (0 = unadjusted vs. 1 = noise-adjusted), noise treatment (0 = quiet vs. 1 = noise), and treatment order (0 = quiet then noise vs. 1 = noise thenTable A7. Preliminary main effects models. Models selected for interpretation (see Table 2) and models that failed to converge are not displayed. All categorical variables were dummy coded: song treatment (0 = unadjusted vs. 1 = noise-adjusted), noise treatment (0 = quiet vs. 1 = noise), and treatment order (0 = quiet then noise vs. 1 = noise then quiet). Bold font represents *Table A8. AICc selection of preliminary main effects models. Selection occurred between: (1)* non-zero inflated models, (2) zero-inflated models with constant inflation, and (3) zero-inflated models with complex zero inflation......77

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. A spectrogram of a Baird's Sparrow song. Syllable classifications used in this spectrogram are consistent with Curry et al. (2017). Syllables include: (A) an introductory syllable, (B) an introductory or final syllable, and (P) an alternating frequency trill syllable. Spectrogram was generated in Raven Pro (v. 1.5) using spectrogram window size 512, Figure 2. Schematic of experimental equipment used in playbacks (not to scale). In this figure, (A) represents the speaker used to broadcast song exemplars and ropes used to assist in distance estimates; (**B**) represents the speaker and battery used to broadcast oil-well drilling noise exemplars. Speakers were placed ~50 m apart. The location of all experimental equipment Figure 3. Song latency (s) of focal males (nindividuals = 63) in trials (ntrials = 115) by song treatment (nunadjusted-trials = 57; nnoise-adjusted-trials = 58), and noise treatment (nquiet-trials = 60; nnoisetrials = 55). Boxes represent the Inter-Quartile Range (IQR), and horizontal lines within boxes represent medians. Vertical lines (whiskers) denote upper and lower quartile ranges. Black dots Figure A4. Number of songs by focal males (nindividuals = 69) in trials by (A) Song treatment (nunadjusted-trials = 68; nnoise-adjusted-trials = 70), and (**B**) noise treatment (nquiet-trials = 69; nnoise-trials = 69). Boxes represent the Inter-Ouartile Range (IQR), and horizontal lines within boxes represent medians. Vertical lines (whiskers) denote upper and lower quartile ranges. Black dots represent Figure A5. Number of calls by focal males (nindividuals = 69) in trials by (A) Song treatment (nunadjusted-trials = 68; noise-adjusted-trials = 70), and (**B**) noise treatment (nquiet-trials = 69; noise-trials = 69). Boxes represent the Inter-Ouartile Range (IQR), and horizontal lines within boxes represent medians. Vertical lines (whiskers) denote upper and lower quartile ranges. Black dots represent Figure A6. Number of flybys by focal males (nindividuals = 69) in trials by (A) Song treatment (nunadjusted-trials = 68; noise-adjusted-trials = 70), and (**B**) noise treatment (nquiet-trials = 69; noise-trials = 69). (A) Song treatment and (B) noise treatment. Boxes represent the Inter-Quartile Range (IQR), and horizontal lines within boxes represent medians. Vertical lines (whiskers) denote 

# **CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND OF CONSERVATION BEHAVIOR**

The field of conservation behavior represents the synergistic union of the fields of animal behavior and conservation biology; conservation behavior recognizes and promotes the application of knowledge pertaining to animal behavior as a valuable tool in addressing conservation issues (Blumstein and Fernández-Juricic 2004, Berger-Tal et al. 2011). While wildlife managers have long used basic behavioral knowledge to steer management decisions (Sutherland 1998), effort to unite the fields of animal behavior and conservation biology has mainly occurred over the past three decades (Clemmons and Buchholz 1997, Festa-Bianchet and Apollonio 2003, Buchholz 2007, Berger-Tal et al. 2011). This delay is thought to be a result of the two disciplines' disparate research focuses and objectives (Linklater 2004, Angeloni et al. 2008). For instance, behaviorists and conservation biologists tend to use different biological scales in research; behavioral ecologists often conduct research at the individual scale, whereas conservation biologists typically do research at larger biological scales (e.g., population, community) (Sutherland 1998, Gosling and Sutherland 2000). Furthermore, the field of animal behavior tends to emphasize the development of evolutionary theories, while conservation biology tends to have a more pragmatic and applied focus (Sutherland 1998, Blumstein and Fernández-Juricic 2004). Given these dissimilarities, it is perhaps no surprise that some have questioned the practical contribution of animal behavior to conservation biology (Caro 2007).

However, conservation biology stands to benefit from the inclusion of the knowledge of the principals governing animal behavior, particularly by integrating such knowledge into management plans or decisions (Berger-Tal et al. 2011). Specifically, knowledge of behavior can be manipulated to improve conservation outcomes (Swaisgood et al. 2003, Madliger 2012, Shier 2016). For example, conspecific decoys and playbacks of conspecific vocalizations have been used in tandem with other conservation actions to successfully re-establish once extirpated breeding colonies of Atlantic puffins (*Fratercula arctica*) and Arctic terns, (*Sterna paradisaea*) in the Gulf of Maine (Kress 1983, Kress and Nettleship 1988). This strategy was used because the above species display "conspecific attraction," whereby individuals make settlement decisions based on the presence of conspecifics cues (Ward and Schlossberg 2004, Nocera et al. 2006).

Behavioral indicators associated with wildlife can also be used to evaluate the effectiveness of current conservation actions (Berger-Tal et al. 2011, Berger-Tal and Saltz 2016). In a broader context, there is a call for the field of conservation to embrace a more evidencebased approach by chronicling the outcomes of current management practice (Pullin et al. 2004, Sutherland et al. 2004). This action would facilitate future management and decision making and learning through an iterative process (Pullin et al. 2004, Sutherland et al. 2004). To illustrate the above point, wildlife corridors are a widely used conservation tool aimed at improving functional connectivity in fragmented habitats (Chetkiewicz et al. 2006, LaPoint et al. 2013). Yet, wildlife corridors often lack evidence-based support that demonstrate their efficacy (Dunning et al. 1992, Davies and Pullin 2007). The extent to which species use or avoid wildlife corridors may be influenced by a variety of factors such as the composition (e.g., width or vegetation) of the corridor (Haddad 1999, Hilty and Merenlender 2004, Brodie et al. 2015). Therefore, the use of behavioral indicators, like animal movement data between habitat patches connected by wildlife corridors, can help shed light on the efficacy of a wildlife corridor to improve functional connectivity (Wikelski et al. 2007, LaPoint et al. 2013).

Behavioral indicators can also be used to identify anthropogenic disturbances to populations or species (Berger-Tal et al. 2011). When populations are faced with rapid environmental change, they may respond by dispersing away from the disturbance, or adjusting to the altered environment through behavioral flexibility (Sih 2013, Wong and Candolin 2015). Over the past decade, considerable research attention has focused on the prevalence of anthropogenic noise in aquatic and terrestrial habitats (Barber et al. 2010, Francis and Barber 2013, Williams et al. 2015, Higgs and Mickle 2018). Examining behavioral indicators, like species avoidance of habitats experiencing high anthropogenic noise conditions, has helped researchers characterize anthropogenic noise as a disturbance for a myriad of wildlife species across various taxa (Rheindt 2003, Tyack et al. 2011, Vargas-Salinas, Fernando Cunnington et al. 2014, Kleist et al. 2017, Injaian et al. 2018, Raboin and Elias 2019).

Other behavioral indicators, namely adjustments to acoustic-signaling behavior, are prevalent in species remaining in habitats experiencing anthropogenic noise (reviewed in Shannon et al. 2016b). A large portion of this research has focused specifically on avian species (reviewed in Roca et al. 2016). Signal adjustments such as increased amplitude or increased minimum frequency are thought to occur because these theoretically improve acoustic communication in noisy conditions (reviewed in Shannon et al. 2016b, but see Ríos-Chelén et al. 2017). Briefly, noise can constrain acoustic communication through a variety of mechanisms, such as acoustic masking (Brumm and Slabbekoorn 2005). Acoustic masking occurs when vocalizations and ambient noise overlap in frequency, or when the amplitude of ambient noise is higher than that of the vocalization (Brenowitz 1982, Dooling and Blumenrath 2013). When acoustic masking by noise occurs, it may be difficult or impossible for receivers to detect or discriminate between acoustic signals (Lohr et al. 2003).

Research efforts exploring the impacts of anthropogenic noise on acoustic communication have disproportionally focused on signalers (reviewed in Shannon et al. 2016b). This is concerning as noise-adjusted signals may fail to restore acoustic detection in the presence of noise (Templeton et al. 2016). Alternatively, noise-adjusted signals may improve acoustic detection in the presence of noise but alter encoded information used by receivers to determine the signaler's identity, quality, or status (Halfwerk et al. 2011a, Luther and Magnotti 2014). For species reliant on acoustic communication for breeding behaviors or alerting conspecifics to the presence of predators, compromised communication networks could deleteriously impact individual survival or recruitment, and this could have population consequences (McGregor et al. 2013, Read et al. 2014). For these reasons, receiver response must be investigated in order to evaluate the efficacy of noise-adjusted signals to improve acoustic detection and preserve discrimination in the presence of noise. Receiver response can serve as another behavioral indicator used by conservation behaviorists to understand the severity of anthropogenic noise as a disturbance to a species or population.

## **RESEARCH OBJECTIVES**

My research examined the behavioral responses of a grassland songbird to anthropogenic noise pollution. Baird's sparrow (Centronyx bairdii) is a species that displays noise-adjusted songs in response to oil-well drilling noise (Curry et al. 2017). However, it was unknown if the noise-adjusted songs of this species actually improve acoustic detection in the presence of noise or if noise-adjusted songs alter biologically important information encoded within signals. To investigate the potential impacts of noise and noise-adjusted songs on the intrasexual behavior of Baird's sparrows, I simulated territorial intrusions in 'noisy' versus 'quiet' conditions by broadcasting unadjusted and noise-adjusted Baird's sparrow song and oil-well drilling noise to males. This allowed me to compare the number of songs, calls, flybys over the speaker, and song latency (the amount of time elapsed from the start of a playback until the focal male sang) for each trial to determine if song or noise treatment influenced male behavior. Ultimately, my research objectives were to: (1) determine if territorial-defense behavior differed in response to unadjusted songs and noise-adjusted songs in quiet conditions, (2) determine if territorial-defense behavior differed in response to unadjusted songs and noise-adjusted songs in experimentallyelevated noise levels, and (3) determine if territorial-defense differed in quiet and experimentally-elevated noise levels.

#### DISTURBANCES CAUSED BY OIL AND GAS DEVELOPMENT

In recent decades, the extraction of oil and natural gas has become an increasingly common activity in the grasslands of North America (Askins et al. 2007, Copeland et al. 2011). Unsurprisingly, activity in this sector inflicts various forms of environmental change that threaten grassland-dependent species, particularly grassland birds (Nasen et al. 2011, Roch and Jaeger 2014). In Canada, grassland obligates have declined by 57% and are ranked as the second most threatened avian group (North American Bird Conservation Initiative Canada 2019). Oil and gas development results in direct habitat loss and fragmentation from the construction of primary (i.e., well pads) and supporting (i.e., roads) infrastructure (Sylvester et al. 2013, Ludlow et al. 2015, Green et al. 2017). Associated road traffic and tall structures can act as direct sources of mortality from collision events (Beck et al. 2006, Green et al. 2017). Functional habitat loss may occur for some species through the avoidance of remaining habitat that has been altered by the influx of non-native vegetation (Ingelfinger and Anderson 2004, Dale et al. 2007, Ludlow et al. 2015, Thompson et al. 2015). Furthermore, the construction and presence of tall infrastructure can serve as novel perches that alter the relative abundance of avian predators and brood parasites alike, which has the potential to jeopardize the reproductive success and survivorship of individuals (Degregorio et al. 2014, Bernath-Plaisted et al. 2017).

Oil and natural gas development also introduces sensory pollution to grasslands through the introduction of anthropogenic noise (Barber et al. 2010, Rosa et al. 2015). Noise generated by primary and supporting infrastructure can propagate over long distances; for example, the acoustic footprint of well pads containing noise-generating compressor engines can elevate ambient noise conditions for up to 650 m from its source (Francis et al. 2011b). As a result, functional habitat loss may occur when species avoid or leave otherwise suitable habitats inundated by anthropogenic noise (Rheindt 2003, Bayne et al. 2008, Francis et al. 2009, Drolet et al. 2016). There are several nonexclusive theories proposed to explain these behavioral patterns; for instance, noise may induce a physiological stress response (Blickley et al. 2012b, Kleist et al. 2018), or may constrain a receiver's ability to use acoustic information (i.e., signals or cues) essential for conspecific communication (Habib et al. 2007) or predator-prey detection (Mason et al. 2016). The potential impact of noise generated by oil and gas activities on wildlife is an increasing conservation concern; as a result, there is a steadily growing body of research dedicated to investigating this topic (see Habib et al. 2007, Bayne et al. 2008, Drolet et al. 2016, Nenninger and Koper 2018).

# **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

# ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION IN PASSERINES

Acoustic communication is widely used by songbirds to ensure survival and promote reproductive success (Kroodsma and Byers 1991, Collins 2004). In many songbird species, song is used by males to deter potential intruders from territories (Peek 1972, Smith 1979, Falls 1988, McDonald 1989, Searcy et al. 1998). Keeping territories free from rivals increases an individual's reproductive success by minimizing the likelihood of cuckoldry or loss of territorial resources (Catchpole and Slater 2008). Early evidence for the territorial function of song comes from experiments where male songbirds were surgically muted and returned to territories; when compared to unmuted males, muted males tended to experience higher rates of territory loss (Peek 1972, Smith 1979, McDonald 1989). In somewhat less invasive experiments, the territorial function of song was illustrated by replacing males with silent loudspeakers or loudspeakers that broadcast conspecific songs (Falls 1988, Searcy et al. 1998). When compared to silent loudspeakers, territories that contained speakers broadcasting conspecific songs had a longer latency for territorial intrusions by rivals despite the physical absence of the territorial owner (Falls 1988, Searcy et al. 1998).

Songs can also convey information about the signaler, which is attended to by various receivers (Collins 2004). In the context of territorial interactions, the type of information encoded within a song might convey a rival's location (McGregor and Falls 1984, McGregor 1993, Naguib and Wiley 2001), identity (Brooks and Falls 1975, Briefer et al. 2008, Osiejuk and Manser 2014), fighting ability (Linhart et al. 2012) or aggressive motivation (Smith and Price 1973, Ripmeester et al. 2007). All of this encoded information can help an individual determine the threat level posed by a signaler (Gil and Gahr 2002, Collins 2004). Ultimately, individuals identified as representing greater threats to territorial holders tend to elicit more aggressive responses when compared to low-threat rivals (Illes et al. 2006, de Kort et al. 2009, DuBois et al. 2011, Moseley et al. 2013).

The "ranging hypothesis" (Morton 1986) states that receivers can estimate the distance and directionality of signalers, particularly conspecific rivals, by attending to the acoustic properties of a signal. To explain, as any long-distance signal propagates through space, local phenomena such as vegetation or weather cause signals to degrade (i.e., changes in a signal's amplitude, spectral or temporal characteristics signal) via the scattering, absorption, refraction or reverberation of soundwaves (Morton 1975, Marten and Marler 1977, Heimann and Gross 1999). Generally, the farther apart a signaler and a receiver are, the greater the potential for signal degradation (Morton 1975, Marten and Marler 1977).

Evidence for the acoustic recognition of specific individuals has largely come from neighbor-stranger discrimination research (Brooks and Falls 1975, Briefer et al. 2008, Osiejuk and Manser 2014). In this body of research, the "dear-enemy phenomenon" (Fisher 1954) describes the trend for territory owners to display weaker aggressive responses to neighbors when compared to strangers (but see Molles and Vehrencamp 2001). Unlike a known neighbor, strangers theoretically represent a greater threat to territory owners (Temeles 1994). As the territory status of a stranger is unknown, a stranger might attempt to seize an individual's territory in addition to attempting to engage in extrapair copulations (Temeles 1994). In contrast, because neighbors already occupy a territory, they may only jeopardize an individual's paternity (Temeles 1994, Olendorf et al. 2004). In this way, diminished aggression towards neighbors helps individuals avoid costly territorial disputes and permits more time to be allocated to activities like vigilance or foraging (Getty 1987).

Signals may also encode and convey information about the fighting ability (Linhart et al. 2012) or aggressive motivation (Smith and Price 1973, Ripmeester et al. 2007) of individuals. In both of these instances, signal exaggeration (i.e., dishonesty) may be selected for (Smith and Price 1973). Signal reliability in agonistic communication is proposed to be maintained by two main mechanisms (Smith and Price 1973). With respect to fighting ability, signal reliability may be maintained through "index signals" (Smith and Price 1973, Smith and Harper 1995). In index signals, the acoustic properties of a signal are linked to the physical attributes of a signaler (Smith and Price 1973, Smith and Harper 1995). For example, individuals with larger body sizes tend to vocalize at lower pitches (i.e., size-pitch allometry) (Davies and Hallidat 1978). In several taxa, body size appears linked to fighting ability, and larger individuals typically win fights (Clutton-Brock et al. 1979, Wells 1988). For avian species, size-pitch allometry has been demonstrated in only a limited number of species, such as purple-crowned fairy-wrens (*Malurus coronatus*) (Hall et al. 2013) and willow warblers (*Phylloscopus trochilus*) (Linhart and Fuchs 2015). Motor performance, as opposed to body size, is thought to be a more important variable in predicting fighting ability for avian species (Bradbury and Vehrencamp 2011, Searcy et al.

2014). With respect to acoustic signals, motor performance may be conveyed through the use of trills (Byers et al. 2010, Moseley et al. 2013) or other difficult-to-produce sounds (Illes et al. 2006, Cardoso and Hu 2011).

Unlike index signals, signals of aggressive motivation or other signals of intent are not physically constrained, and as a consequence, individuals may inflate their willingness to escalate to physical conflict (Caryl 1979, Gardner and Morris 1989, Ręk and Osiejuk 2010, Searcy et al. 2013). One way the reliability of aggressive signals is proposed to be maintained is through receiver-dependent costs (Zahavi 1977, Guilford and Dawkins 1995). Game theory predicts that dishonest signals are selected against by means of receiver retaliation (Caryl 1979, Enquist 1985). In other words, individuals may have to pay the cost of physical injury inflicted by receivers if they are bluffing about their aggressive motivation. In the context of birds, intent signals differ by species and can include short-term behavioral adjustments such as soft-song (low amplitude song) (Dabelsteen et al. 1998, Ballentine et al. 2008, Templeton et al. 2012, Akçay and Searcy 2015) or song overlapping (Dabelsteen et al. 1997, Mennill and Ratcliffe 2004, Akçay et al. 2020).

# CHALLENGES TO ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION

As briefly discussed above, long-range acoustic signals propagating through space inevitably experience interference and distortion. For example, dense vegetation causes attenuation (i.e., decrease in signal intensity) through the absorption, scattering, and reflecting of a signal's soundwaves (Morton 1975, Marten and Marler 1977, Forrest 1994, Heimann and Gross 1999). The influence of vegetation on soundwave propagation is more pronounced for high-frequency signals or noise (< 2 kHz) (Martens and Michelsen 1981, Watanabe and Yamada 1996). Ultimately, when a signal's intensity is decreased, so is the active space or maximum distance that a receiver can detect a signal (Brenowitz 1982, Dooling and Blumenrath 2013). In addition to vegetation, weather can also influence the transmission of long-range acoustic signals; for example, wind and temperature gradients can cause fluctuations in signal amplitude (Rudnick 1947). Still, natural ambient noise (e.g., multispecies choruses, moving water) can also constrain the detection and discrimination of a signal through acoustic masking (Marten and Marler 1977, Wiley and Richards 1978, Brenowitz 1982, Forrest 1994, Langemann et al. 1998). Acoustic masking can occur when a signal and ambient noise overlap in frequency, or when the amplitude of ambient noise is higher than that of a signal (Brenowitz 1982, Dooling and Blumenrath 2013). In this way, acoustic masking lowers the signal-to-noise ratio; as a result, a signal or its components are rendered inaudible to a receiver (Lohr et al. 2003).

# **EVOLUTION OF ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION**

Ecological features are thought to play a significant role in shaping the evolution of acoustic signals (Brown 1989, Ryan et al. 1990, Kopuchian et al. 2004, Boncoraglio and Saino 2007, Potvin et al. 2011). Morton (1975) first proposed the "acoustic adaptation hypothesis," which states that organisms have evolved to use acoustic signals that are best suited for their structural habitat. These best-suited acoustic signals minimize degradation while maximizing transmission distance (Morton 1975). To illustrate this hypothesis, bird songs in structurally-complex habitats, such as forests, tend to use pure tones, low frequencies, and have wide spacing between notes (reviewed in Boncoraglio and Saino 2007). These acoustic properties are more robust to the degradation, blurring, and reverberation that inevitably occurs when sound waves encounter physical obstacles, like vegetation, during transmission (Richards and Wiley 1980, Ryan and Brenowitz 1985).

In addition to the structural habitat, ambient background noise has also been proposed to influence the evolution of acoustic signals (Brumm 2006, Schmidt et al. 2013, Krishnan and Tamma 2016, Chitnis et al. 2020). For example, the "Lombard effect" (Lombard 1911) describes the ability of birds and other taxa to cope with acute noise by temporarily and immediately increasing the amplitude of acoustic signals (Zollinger and Brumm 2011). By increasing the signal-to-noise ratio, the acoustic detection and discrimination of signals by receivers in competing noise is improved (Lohr et al. 2003, Luther and Gentry 2013). Another evolutionary strategy to avoid acoustic masking from low-frequency noise generated by features, such as wind or fast-moving bodies of water, includes vocalizing at frequencies that are not overlapped by background noise (Dubois and Martens 1984, Douglas and Conner 1999). Furthermore, longer syllables or song length can also improve the detection of a signal by a receiver in noise (Lengagne et al. 1999, Gough et al. 2014). As aforementioned, biotic noise also contributes to overall ambient noise. The "acoustic niche hypothesis" (Krause 1993) states that acoustically communicating species within a mature ecological community minimize acoustic overlapping by occupying distinct aural niches (Krause 1993). These niches may be partitioned by temporal,

10

spatial or spectral means (Schmidt et al. 2013, Hart et al. 2015, Krishnan and Tamma 2016, Chitnis et al. 2020).

Receivers are also thought to have evolved myriad strategies to cope with the challenges of signal detection and discrimination posed by the physical environment and the presence of noise (Wiley 2017). For example, receivers may optimize signal reception by selecting higher perches in forested habitats (Dabelsteen et al. 1993, Mathevon et al. 2005) as this may help alleviate signal distortion caused by ground effects (Embleton 1996, Holland et al. 1998, Nemeth et al. 2001). Additionally, receivers may be equipped with neurosensory mechanisms to facilitate signal detection and discrimination in the presence of noise (reviewed in Bee and Micheyl 2008). For instance, the auditory continuity illusion describes the capacity for receivers to cognitively fill gaps of signals partially masked by ambient noise (Dannenbring 1976, Braaten and Leary 1999, Riecke et al. 2008).

# ANTHROPOGENIC NOISE

Anthropogenic noise is an evolutionarily recent phenomenon that has the capacity to constrain and influence the acoustic communication of wildlife (Sih et al. 2011, Francis and Barber 2013, Roca et al. 2016). Generally, anthropogenic noise is characterized as low-frequency (i.e.,  $\leq 4$  kHz) and as containing more acoustic-energy than biophony (e.g., wildlife vocalizations) or geophony (e.g., wind and rain) (Blickley and Patricelli 2010, Pijanowski et al. 2011, Luther and Gentry 2013, Gage and Axel 2014, Mullet et al. 2016). Such acoustic characteristics of anthropogenic noise facilitate long-distance propagation (e.g.,  $\geq 1$  km) without substantial intensity loss (Luther and Gentry 2013). However, the spatial extent of noise differs between linear and point sources of noise due to the inverse distance law (i.e., the geometric spreading of sound waves) (Embleton 1996). If amplitude is held constant, linear sources of noise will have larger acoustic footprints when compared to point sources of noise (Forrest 1994, Luther and Gentry 2013). Anthropogenic noise may also differ from natural sources of noise temporally. For instance, wind passing through vegetation is the main contributor to ambient noise in natural open grassland habitats; as a result, ambient noise levels tend to peak midday when wind velocity is highest (Green 1992, Dodgin 2018). However, because of rapid oil and gas development in many grassland habitats, infrastructure, like compressor stations, introduce

novel sources of continuous low-frequency noise (Bayne et al. 2008, Francis and Barber 2013, Rosa et al. 2015).

# ANTHROPOGENIC NOISE AND ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION

Like natural sources of noise, anthropogenic noise has the potential to interfere with the acoustic communication of wildlife through acoustic masking. Acoustic masking caused by anthropogenic noise may result in fitness consequences; however, these fitness consequences are predicted to be signal-specific (Blickley and Patricelli 2012). For example, anthropogenic noise that acoustically masks anti-predator signals, such as alarm calls, could have dire consequences for survival. In a field experiment using superb fairy-wrens (Malurus cyaneus), individuals failed to flee to cover when conspecific alarm calls were broadcast with experimentally-introduced noise (Zhou et al. 2019). Similarly, parental communication of predation risk to nestling tree swallows (Tachycineta bicolor) was disrupted by noise, such that nestlings under experimentally-elevated noise conditions called for longer after alarm calls when compared to quiet conditions (McIntyre et al. 2014). In the context of anti-predator signals, the acoustic masking of alarm calls in one species could impact the survival of another species. Specifically, this might occur when individuals in one species regularly attends to the alarm calls of a heterospecific individuals. For example, northern cardinals (*Cardinalis cardinalis*) attend to the alarm calls of tufted titmice (Baeolophus bicolor), but when northern cardinals living in habitats impacted by traffic noise were presented experimentally-broadcast alarm calls of tufted titmice, many individuals failed to respond entirely (Grade and Sieving 2016). Failure to respond appropriately with vigilance behavior or hiding could result in individual mortality (Grade and Sieving 2016).

Anthropogenic noise that entirely or partially acoustically masks songs may have consequences for reproduction, such as decreased pairing success (Habib et al. 2007), weakened pair bonds (Swaddle and Page 2007), or diminished territory-defense behavior (Kleist et al. 2016, Zwart et al. 2016). Regarding the latter, weakened territory-defense behavior could cost a male cuckoldry or loss of territorial resources (Halfwerk et al. 2011b, Kleist et al. 2016). For example, spotted towhees (*Pipilo maculatus*) and chipping sparrows (*Spizella passerina*) were exposed to simulated territorial intrusions in habitats of natural ambient noise and habitats altered by low-frequency compressor noise (Kleist et al. 2016). When compared to simulated

12

territorial intrusions in habitats with natural ambient noise, focal males in noisy habitats displayed a greater response latency (to sing or approach the experimental speaker) (Kleist et al. 2016). In a similar experiment, Lenis and Guillermo-Ferreira (2020) presented simulated territorial intrusions to great kiskadees (*Pitangus sulphuratus*) in habitats of varying levels of urban noise. Their results corroborated the findings of the above experiment, with individuals displaying longer response latency in habitats experiencing higher ambient noise levels (Lenis and Guillermo-Ferreira 2020).

In general, when faced with rapid environmental change, populations or species may disperse away from the disturbance, or attempt to deal with the novel environment by modifying behaviors (Sih et al. 2011, Sih 2013, Wong and Candolin 2015). In regard to the former, evidence suggests that some avian species avoid habitats experiencing high anthropogenic noise (Rheindt 2003, Kleist et al. 2017, Injaian et al. 2018). Spatial avoidance of anthropogenic noise is often hypothesized to occur because of acoustic masking, which disproportionally threatens birds with low-frequency vocalizations (McGregor et al. 2013). Indeed, avian species with low-frequency vocalizations often occur at lower abundances in habitats impacted by noise (Rheindt 2003, Hu and Cardoso 2010, Kleist et al. 2017).

However, some avian species remain in habitats experiencing high anthropogenic noise, and many of these species display noise-induced alterations in acoustic signaling behavior (Fuller et al. 2007, Bermúdez-Cuamatzin et al. 2009, Hu and Cardoso 2010). Altering signal behavior and or signal structure is proposed to be adaptive, whereby signal detection and discrimination in the presence of noise are improved (Brumm and Zollinger 2013). These alterations appear to be species-specific, meaning even closely-related species may display starkly different strategies in response to the same form of anthropogenic noise (Francis et al. 2011a, Curry et al. 2017). Furthermore, strategies may be noise-specific such that a particular species display different strategies in response to varying forms of anthropogenic noise (Potvin and Mulder 2013, Lenske 2014, Warrington et al. 2018). This variation in response to noise and ultimately what strategy is employed by a species or individual might be a function of the extent of acoustic masking, physical limitations (e.g., physiological or biomechanical), the need to preserve encoded information, life history or prior experience (Brumm 2004, Brumm and Slater 2006, Podos et al. 2009, Lazerte et al. 2016, Curry et al. 2017, Warrington et al. 2018). Below I

discuss some of the common strategies employed by avian species in response to anthropogenic noise.

#### **Amplitude Shifts**

Laboratory and field experiments indicate that numerous mammalian (Hotchkin and Parks 2013) and avian species (Manabe et al. 1998, Brumm and Todt 2002, Pytte et al. 2003, Lowry et al. 2012, Kight and Swaddle 2015, Derryberry et al. 2017, Hardman et al. 2017) are capable of making noise-dependent changes to song or call amplitude. Known as the "Lombard effect" (Lombard 1911), this pattern entails individuals immediately increasing the amplitude of their acoustic signals in response to increasing background noise (Brumm and Todt 2002, Zollinger and Brumm 2011). A higher signal amplitude is proposed to be adaptive because it increases the signal-to-noise ratio and may help maintain the active space of the signal (Lohr et al. 2003). Indeed, in comparison to the below example of spectral adjustments, amplitude shifts are hypothesized to be a more effective strategy in improving acoustic communication under noisy conditions (Nemeth and Brumm 2010).

#### **Spectral Shifts**

Species may also alter the frequencies of an entire signal or particular signal elements in response to anthropogenic noise (Pytte et al. 2003, Gross et al. 2010, Verzijden et al. 2010, Montague et al. 2013, Curry et al. 2017). In some cases, higher frequency shifts may be a by-product of the aforementioned Lombard effect (Brumm and Todt 2002, Nemeth et al. 2013); however, evidence suggests that spectral shifts can occur independently of song amplitude (Potvin and Mulder 2013). In many examples, avian species have been found to raise the minimum frequencies of songs in response to low-frequency anthropogenic noise (Pytte et al. 2003, Gross et al. 2010, Verzijden et al. 2010, Montague et al. 2013); in theory, this would improve the contrast between the signal and the prevailing background noise (Lohr et al. 2003, Luther and Gentry 2013). Curiously, some species respond to noise by displaying signals with decreased signal frequency parameters (Potvin et al. 2014, Curry et al. 2017, Gentry et al. 2017, Wolfenden et al. 2019). In some instances, decreasing signal frequency parameters might be adaptive because lower-frequency signals have greater active spaces (Potvin et al. 2014). Still, increasing minimum frequency or decreasing maximum frequency may increase whole-signal or

signal-element tonality via decreased bandwidth, and more tonal signals may improve detectability and discrimination in the presence of noise (Lohr et al. 2003, Roca et al. 2016).

#### **Temporal Shifts**

Another means of avoiding acoustic masking is to shift singing activities to periods during the day when anthropogenic noise levels are lower (Fuller et al. 2007, Nordt and Klenke 2013, Cartwright et al. 2014, Gil et al. 2015, Dorado-Correa et al. 2016). The use of the "temporal overlap avoidance strategy" (Yang and Slabbekoorn 2014) appears to be mainly a response to long-term and predictable forms of noise from sources such as rush hour traffic and airports (Fuller et al. 2007, Dominoni et al. 2016). Unlike the aforementioned strategies, currently, there is no evidence to suggest that the temporal overlap avoidance strategy is an immediate form of signaling flexibility used by avian species in response to anthropogenic noise (Yang and Slabbekoorn 2014). However, at least two mammalian species have been found to avoid vocalizations during experimentally-introduced intermittent white noise and instead waited to vocalize during brief quiet windows (Egnor et al. 2007, Roy et al. 2011).

### **Multimodal Shifts**

So far, this discussion has been restricted to adjustments in one sensory modality (i.e., hearing), yet avian and other wildlife species often employ and attend to signals across multiple sensory modalities (Higham and Hebets 2013). Improved communication in the presence of anthropogenic noise may occur through shifting effort to visual signals or increasing signal redundancy through the use of multiple modalities (Hebets and Papaj 2005, Partan and Marler 2005, Akçay and Beecher 2019). For example, male song sparrows (*Melospiza melodia*) displayed more wing waves and warbled soft songs in response to simulated territorial intrusions occurring in experimentally elevated noise levels when compared to quiet trials (Akçay and Beecher 2019). The researchers in this study concluded that, when faced with noisy conditions, males potentially preserved communication by employing a redundant signaling strategy across modalities (Akçay and Beecher 2019). Contrary to this study, Ríos-Chelén et al. (2015) found that red-winged blackbirds (*Agelaius phoeniceus*) did not increase the intensity of the visual displays in response to higher anthropogenic noise levels.

## Are Noise-Induced Acoustic Adjustments Measurement Artifacts?

Many of the abovementioned studies used spectrograms in sound-analysis programs, such as Raven Pro, to measure the acoustic parameters of signals. Yet, the use of spectrograms in noise-adjusted signal research presents several issues (Zollinger et al. 2012, Brumm and Bee 2016, Brumm et al. 2017, Ríos-Chelén et al. 2017). For one, without a universally accepted standard for spectrogram settings (e.g., contrast, brightness and window size), variation in spectrograms settings may prevent comparisons among and between studies (Zollinger et al. 2012). A more central problem to noise-adjusted signal research, however, is when researchers use on-screen cursors or a "by-eye practice" (Ríos-Chelén et al. 2016, 2017) to measure the minimum frequency of a signal. The use of this technique is subjective and unreliable, particularly when attempting to measure the minimum frequency of a signal in a recording in the midst of loud, low-frequency sounds (Zollinger et al. 2012, Ríos-Chelén et al. 2017). Although contingent on the characteristics of the noise and the signal, low-frequency portions of recorded signals may become visually undetectable on spectrograms but still acoustically present; in this situation, researchers may make a Type I error (i.e., false-positive) (Zollinger et al. 2012, Brumm and Bee 2016, Brumm et al. 2017, Ríos-Chelén et al. 2017). To circumvent this problem in future studies, some researchers advocate the use of power spectra rather than spectrograms for more consistent minimum and maximum frequency measurements (Zollinger et al. 2012).

# Are Noise-Induced Adjustments Adaptive?

In order for noise-induced adjustments to be adaptive, strategies must restore the ability of receivers to both detect and discriminate between signals in the presence of noise. Yet, few studies have examined if noise-adjusted signals actually improve reception in the face of anthropogenic noise (but see Pohl et al. 2012, Montague et al. 2013, Luther and Magnotti 2014, Lazerte et al. 2017, Curry et al. 2018). One study focusing on receivers was conducted by Templeton et al. (2016), who highlighted that noise-adjusted signals do not always restore communication in the presence of noise. In this study, great tits (*Parus major*), increased the amplitude of alarm calls under experimental traffic noise. Because of the presence of the Lombard effect, the researchers predicted that amplitude adjustments would restore anti-predator behavior in the presence of competing noise. Great tits were then exposed to playbacks of: (1) alarm calls only, (2) traffic-noise only, (3) amplitude-adjusted alarm calls paired with low traffic

noise, and, (4) amplitude-adjusted alarm calls paired with high traffic noise (Templeton et al. 2016). Playbacks of alarm calls only resulted in normal antipredator behavior, while playbacks of amplitude-adjusted alarm calls paired with low traffic noise resulted in weakened antipredator behavior (e.g., fewer alarm calls). However, when amplitude-adjusted alarm calls were paired with high traffic noise, individuals failed to respond to playbacks with antipredator behavior (Templeton et al. 2016).

Even if noise-adjusted signals improve detection in the presence of noise, discrimination of the signal may be impacted (Slabbekoorn and Ripmeester 2008, Halfwerk et al. 2011a). For example, frequency adjustments to signals may impact how receivers perceive and subsequently respond to the signal (Mockford and Marshall 2009, Montague et al. 2013, Luther et al. 2016, Curry et al. 2018). Luther and Magnotti (2014) investigated this topic by presenting northern cardinals (*Cardinalis cardinalis*) with simulated territorial intrusions of noise-adjusted and unadjusted songs (i.e., frequency adjusted) under a gradient of noise conditions. During low levels of background noise, focal males gave stronger responses (e.g., increased number of songs and flybys) to unadjusted songs relative to noise-adjusted songs. However, responses between the two song types became more similar with increasing background noise. The researchers concluded that because focal males gave different responses to noise-adjusted and unadjusted songs in quiet environments, the two song types were not functionally equivalent (Luther and Magnotti 2014).

In contrast to the above study, Curry et al. (2018) found evidence to suggest that noiseadjusted songs improved communication in noisy contexts. In this study, Savannah sparrows (*Passerculus sandwichensis*), were presented simulated territorial intrusions of noise-adjusted and unadjusted songs in three different acoustic environments. In low levels of background noise, focal males gave stronger responses (e.g., increased number of wing flicks and attacks) to unadjusted songs when compared to noise-adjusted songs (Curry et al. 2018). Yet, in high levels of background noise, agonistic responses to noise-adjusted songs were similar to unadjusted songs broadcast in low levels of background noise. Given these results, the researchers concluded that although noise-adjusted songs altered song meaning in quiet environments, noiseadjusted songs restored normal agonistic behavior in noisy contexts (Curry et al. 2018).

## **STUDY SPECIES**

The Baird's sparrow (*Centronyx bairdii*) is a small grassland obligate that breeds in the northern Great Plains and overwinters in the southwestern part of the United States and northern Mexico (Green et al. 2020). The southern regions of Alberta, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba are important habitat for Baird's sparrow as they collectively contain ~45% of the species breeding range (COSEWIC 2012). Sexes are nearly identical in appearance, with females and males displaying cryptic plumage consisting of a buffy yellow head, white belly, and light brown and black streaks on the back (Green et al. 2020). Black streaking, reminiscent of a necklace, appears on the chest of Baird's sparrows (Green et al. 2020).

#### **Breeding and Territorial Behavior**

Baird's sparrows arrive at breeding sites in early May, and sometimes as late as June (Ahlering et al. 2006, Green et al. 2020). This species is characterized as semi-nomadic given evidence of low breeding site fidelity (Green et al. 2020). Baird's sparrows display clumped distribution patterns at breeding sites, potentially due to the species' selection of breeding habitat via conspecific auditory cues (Ahlering et al. 2006). During the breeding season, males demonstrate territoriality via displays (e.g., wing fluttering) and singing from perches or the ground in territory centers (Green et al. 2020). During territorial disputes, behaviors such as calling and chasing (on wing and by foot) increase (Cartwright et al. 1937). Playbacks of Baird's sparrow song within territories elicit agonistic responses from males and provokes neighboring males to sing (Green 1992, Ahlering et al. 2006).

#### **Song Behavior**

Singing is limited to male Baird's sparrows, and like many passerines, song is culturally learned (Green 1992, Wheelwright et al. 2008). Currently, 13 song types have been described for Baird's sparrows, and males only use one song type throughout their lifespan (Green 1992). All song types are high-frequency and typically contain introductory syllables, a trill, and a terminal note or syllable (Green et al. 2020) (Figure 1). Curiously, males on adjacent territories tend to use different song types (Green 1992; Waldinger, *personal observation*). Finally, song dialects have not been observed in Baird's sparrow, this suggests that song types are not geographically constrained (Green 1992, Green et al. 2020).



Figure 1. A spectrogram of a Baird's Sparrow song. Syllable classifications used in this spectrogram are consistent with Curry et al. (2017). Syllables include: (**A**) an introductory syllable, (**B**) an introductory or final syllable, and (**P**) an alternating frequency trill syllable. Spectrogram was generated in Raven Pro (v. 1.5) using spectrogram window size 512, brightness 50, and contrast 90.

#### Song Behavior in Anthropogenic Noise

Baird's sparrows display noise-adjusted songs in the presence of anthropogenic noise (Curry et al. 2017). Curry et al. (2017) found that when compared to quiet conditions, Baird's sparrows recorded in noisy conditions decreased the peak frequency of songs and altered five of the eight song syllables analyzed. Three of the five altered song syllables were introductory syllables, while the remaining two were trill syllables (Curry et al. 2017). Two introductory syllables had decreased frequencies, while the third introductory syllable was increased in frequency. One trill syllable displayed increased power, and the second trill syllable displayed decreased power and shorter duration (Curry et al. 2017). Alteration of introductory notes is significant as introductory notes are believed to be important for species recognition (Green 1992). However, it is unknown what function trill syllables play in Baird's sparrow. In other sparrow species, trills are believed to signal male quality (Ballentine et al. 2004, Sung and Handford 2020).

# **Population Trends, Threats, and Conservation Action**

Population declines of the once common Baird's sparrow have been recorded in the United States and Canada since 1966 (Wilsey et al. 2019). In Canada, federal conservation actions began with the listing of Baird's sparrow as "Threatened" under the Species at Risk Act (SARA) in 1989 (Goossen et al. 1993 in Wiggins 2006). In the following year, the Baird's Sparrow Recovery Team was formed, and a species recovery plan was produced (Goossen et al. 1993 in Wiggins 2006). After a species assessment by The Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC) in 1996, the status of Baird's sparrow was downgraded to "Not at Risk" (SARA 2020). COSEWIC assessed the status of the species again in 2012 and elevated the status of Baird's Sparrow to "Special Concern" (COSEWIC 2012). Most recently, Baird's sparrow was added to Schedule 1 with the status "Special Concern" (SARA 2020). In Alberta, where my study system was located, Baird's sparrow is listed as Sensitive (Alberta Environment and Parks 2015).

The decline of Baird's sparrow populations is primarily attributed to the loss and degradation of its breeding habitat (Jones and Green 1998, COSEWIC 2012). Conversion to cropland is a major historical and ongoing threat to Baird's sparrow (Jones and Green 1998, Wiggins 2006). In addition, overgrazing by domestic livestock also negatively impacts Baird's

sparrow density and reproductive success (Owens and Myres 1973, Sutter et al. 1995). The physical expansion of the energy extraction sector may also threaten Baird's sparrow as well as other grassland birds (Ludlow et al. 2015, Thompson et al. 2015). Baird's sparrow density is impacted by forms of habitat alteration associated with oil and natural gas development including the encroachment of non-native plant species, creation of roads and the presence of vertical infrastructure (Sutter et al. 2000, Dale et al. 2007, Ludlow et al. 2015, Nenninger and Koper 2018). While other grassland obligate species appear to avoid habitat impacted by noise generated by oil and gas infrastructure (Blickley et al. 2012a), at least one study found that such noise did not explain well avoidance by Baird's sparrows (Nenninger and Koper 2018). Instead, this study attributed Baird's sparrow well avoidance to the physical footprint of infrastructure (Nenninger and Koper 2018).

# CHAPTER 3: IMPACTS OF NOISE AND NOISE-ADJUSTED SIGNALS ON AGONISTIC BEHAVIORS OF MALE BAIRD'S SPARROWS

# ABSTRACT

Anthropogenic noise can constrain the acoustic communication of wildlife species through acoustic masking. Yet, many wildlife species display noise-adjusted signals which are theorized to provide release from acoustic masking. However, noise-adjusted signals may alter encoded signal information attended to by receivers or fail to improve acoustic communication in noise. I examined the efficacy of noise-adjusted signals using Baird's sparrow (Centronyx bairdii), a species that displays noise-adjusted signals. I conducted repeated measures playback studies (n = 69 dyads) on free-living male Baird's sparrows in the mixed-grass prairies of Southern Alberta during their breeding season (May to July 2018 and 2019). I used a playback design to broadcast pre-recorded unadjusted and noise-adjusted male song in the presence and absence of oil-well drilling noise to simulate territorial intrusions in quiet and noisy conditions. To determine if song or noise treatment influenced male behavior, I compared the number of songs, calls, flybys over the experimental speaker, and song latency (time elapsed after the start of a playback for males to sing) for each trial type. Song latency for unadjusted songs was longer in the presence of oil-well drilling noise, suggesting that acoustic detection was constrained by noise. However, song latency for noise-adjusted songs broadcast with noise was similar to unadjusted songs broadcast in quiet conditions, indicating that noise-adjusted songs improve acoustic detection in the presence of competing noise. Overall, responses differed significantly by noise treatment; males sang less, called more, and did more flybys in noisy conditions. These results suggest that noise elicits more aggressive territorial-defense behavior or hinders the ability of individuals to locate or assess rivals.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In grassland habitats, primary (i.e., well pads) and supporting (i.e., roads) non-renewable energy infrastructure are major contributors to anthropogenic noise (Bayne et al. 2008, Barber et al. 2011, Rosa et al. 2015). Noise emitted from these sources can impact avian species abundance (Blickley et al. 2012a), community composition (Francis et al. 2009), and pairing success (Habib et al. 2007). Acoustic masking of critical vocalizations used in breeding behavior or survival is one proposed mechanism underlying these changes (Barber et al. 2010, McGregor et al. 2013). Acoustic masking can occur when a vocalization and ambient noise overlap in frequency, or when the amplitude of ambient noise is higher than that of a vocalization (Brenowitz 1982, Dooling and Blumenrath 2013). When acoustic masking occurs, the distance over which a receiver can detect a vocalization (i.e., the active space of a signal) is reduced (Lohr et al. 2003).

In the presence of anthropogenic noise, many avian species alter their vocalizations by means of amplitude (Brumm and Todt 2002, Lowry et al. 2012), frequency (Potvin and Mulder 2013, Luther and Magnotti 2014) or timing (Fuller et al. 2007, Dominoni et al. 2016). Alterations may involve the whole song or only specific syllables (reviewed in Brumm and Zollinger 2013). Furthermore, adjustments appear to be species-specific such that closely-related species may display disparate strategies in response to the same form of anthropogenic noise (Francis et al. 2011a, Curry et al. 2017). Adjustments may also be contingent on the noise source, such that a particular species may display different adjustments in response to different forms of anthropogenic noise (Potvin and Mulder 2013, Lenske 2014, Warrington et al. 2018). Ultimately, noise-adjusted songs may reduce the impact of acoustic masking by increasing the signal-to-noise ratio or increasing the contrast between a vocalization and competing background noise (Brumm and Slabbekoorn 2005, Wiley 2013).

However, noise-adjustments may fail to improve acoustic communication in the presence of noise. For example, although great tits (*Parus major*) increased the amplitude of alarm calls when exposed to traffic noise, these amplitude adjustments were not sufficient to counteract the masking effects of high-amplitude traffic noise (Templeton et al. 2016). Even if signal detection is improved, adjustments to vocalizations, like songs, may impact their perception by receivers (Halfwerk et al. 2011a). Briefly, the encoded information in songs is thought to be crucial in territory-defense behavior as songs can convey information regarding an individual's location (McGregor and Falls 1984, McGregor 1993, Naguib and Wiley 2001), identity (Brooks and Falls 1975, Briefer et al. 2008, Osiejuk and Manser 2014), fighting ability (Linhart et al. 2012) or aggressive motivation (Smith and Price 1973, Ripmeester et al. 2007). How territorial males perceive intruders is thought to influence the strength of their territory-defense behavior and intruders that are perceived as low-threat (e.g., low aggression or low fighting ability) tend to elicit weaker responses (Illes et al. 2006, de Kort et al. 2009, Brumm and Ritschard 2011,

23

Moseley et al. 2013). Therefore, noise-adjusted signals may alter how territorial males perceive and subsequently respond to intruders. For example, simulated territorial intrusions of noiseadjusted songs of northern cardinals (*Cardinalis cardinalis*) (Luther and Magnotti 2014) and great tits (Mockford and Marshall 2009) elicited weaker territorial responses from conspecifics when compared to unadjusted songs. If noise-adjusted signals distort the threat level posed by an intruder, weaker or slower territorial responses to truly threatening intruders could cost a male territorial takeovers or cuckoldry (Halfwerk et al. 2011a, Kleist et al. 2016).

Baird's sparrow (*Centronyx bairdii*) is a grassland-obligate songbird that breeds in the mixed-grass prairies of Canada and the United States (Green et al. 2020) and displays noiseadjusted songs in response to experimental playbacks of noise generated by oil-well drilling (Curry et al. 2017). The ability of Baird's sparrows to adapt to noise could have conservation implications. Population declines of Baird's sparrows have been recorded in the United States and Canada since 1966 (Wilsey et al. 2019). As a result, this species is federally listed as a species of Special Concern in Canada under the Species at Risk Act (SARA 2020). The decline of Baird's sparrow is mainly attributed to widespread historic habitat loss caused by conversion to cropland (Jones and Green 1998, Wiggins 2006). However, in recent years, new forms of habitat loss and degradation have been wrought by oil and gas development and may also contribute to the decline of Baird's sparrow (Ludlow et al. 2015, Green et al. 2017). In addition to the physical loss of habitat, oil and gas development generates substantial noise which leads to the avoidance of other grassland-obligate species (Blickley et al. 2012a). However, at least one study found that such noise did not explain oil well avoidance by Baird's sparrows (Nenninger and Koper 2018). This might suggest that the noise-adjusted signals of Baird's sparrows are effective in restoring acoustic communication in the presence of noise.

In this study, I broadcast pre-recorded unadjusted and noise-adjusted male song in the presence and absence of oil-well drilling noise to simulate territorial intrusions in quiet and noisy conditions. This allowed me to determine if the territorial-defense behavior of free-living male Baird's sparrow differed between song treatments (noise-adjusted vs. unadjusted songs), between noise treatments (quiet vs. and noisy) and if there was an interaction between these treatments. I predicted that if noise-adjusted songs improve acoustic detection in the presence of noise, then noise-adjusted songs will elicit quicker responses when compared to unadjusted songs in the presence of noise. If noise-adjusted songs improve detection in noise and do not compromise

signal content (i.e., change encoded information), then noise-adjusted songs and unadjusted songs should elicit similar responses in quiet conditions.

# **METHODS**

## **Ethics**

This research was conducted under University of Manitoba animal care protocols #F15-005/1/2/3 (AC11301) (2018) and #F19-003 (AC11449) (2019), Canadian bird banding permit #10840, Canadian Wildlife Service (CWS) permit #17-AB-SC001, and Alberta Environment and Sustainable Research Development Research Permit #18-347 (2018) and #19-258 (2019).

## Site and Timing

My study took place in May-July 2018 and 2019 within a 50 km radius of Brooks, Alberta, Canada (50.56417°N, 111.8989°W, 760 meters above sea level). This area is located on the periphery of the prairie pothole region and exhibits limited topographical relief. Much of the land in this area is privately owned and managed by the Eastern Irrigation District (EID). EID manages land under a multiple-use philosophy and leases land for activities, including livestock grazing and energy extraction. On EID-leased grazing pastures, vegetation is mostly comprised of native mixed-grass prairie species like western wheatgrass (Pascopyrum smithii), needle-andthread (Hesperostipa comata), blue grama (Bouteloua gracilis), and junegrass (Koeleria macrantha). Additionally, exotic plant species, such as goatsbeard (Tragopogon dubius) and crested wheatgrass (Agropyron cristatum) occur, but in low abundances. In my study area, the size of leased grazing pastures tends to be 1.6 x 1.6 km or larger, and pastures are divided by three-wire fences or range roads. Pastures and energy extraction lease sites are often adjacent to one another. The size of energy extraction lease sites is typically 100 m x 100 m. A lease site for energy extraction often consists of a bare or gravel footprint, primary infrastructure (to extract or distribute oil or natural gas), technical cattle fences surrounding the primary infrastructure, and a three-wire fence at the perimeter of the lease site. Dirt or gravel service roads extending from energy extraction lease sites connect to the rural road system. On energy extraction lease sites, primary infrastructure often produces high amplitude and broadband sound; however, the majority of energy tends to be concentrated within the lower frequency ranges (i.e.,  $\leq 3 \text{kHz}$ )

(Rosa et al. 2015, Antze and Koper 2018). For example, generator-powered screw pumps, used to extract oil, may produce noise at  $79 \pm SD 3.5 \text{ dBc}$  at 10 m; meanwhile, gas compressor stations, which distribute oil through pipeline networks, can produce noise  $82 \pm SD 3.1 \text{ dBc}$  at 10 m (Antze and Koper 2018).

My study sites (i.e., focal male territories and locations of playback experiments) were all located on annually-grazed native mixed-grass pastures owned by EID. These sites were all  $\geq$ 600 m from noise-producing infrastructure and  $\geq$  100 m from low-traffic dirt service roads. As a result, ambient noise on my study site was mostly generated by natural sources (e.g., wind, birdsong). On these sites, I searched for territorial male Baird's sparrows by attending to behavioral cues such as singing. Once located, I used a 6-m mist net, decoy, and a small Bluetooth speaker broadcasting conspecific songs to capture individuals. After extraction from the mist net, I verified the sex (using cloacal protuberance) and the age of the individual (using molt limits and feather quality) (Pyle et al. 2008). I also took morphometric measurements (e.g., bill height, width, length, tarsus length, flattened wing-chord) of the individual using calipers, a wing ruler, and a digital scale. I banded individuals with a CWS metal band and a unique combination of two or three plastic color bands (red, yellow, dark blue, light blue, orange, green, light green, gray, pink, purple, and brown). To reduce the chance of color bands reopening and injuring birds, I used a portable soldering iron to seal the bands shut. In an effort to minimize stress on the individuals, I processed and released all birds within 20 min. Lastly, I took a GPS waypoint using an eTrex 10 (Garmin Ltd., Olathe, Kansas, USA) at the location of the banding event. I referenced the banding event GPS waypoint when attempting to re-sight the focal male for subsequent playback experiments.

# **Playback Trials**

My playback experiments sought to determine if the territory-defense behavior of focal males differed between song treatments (noise-adjusted vs. unadjusted songs), noise treatments (ambient noise (hereafter 'quiet') vs. experimentally introduced noise (hereafter 'noise')) and if there were interactions between these treatments. To accomplish this, I presented matched-stimuli playback trials (dyads) (*nnoise-adjusted* = 35; *nunadjusted* = 34) to focal males (*ncolor-banded* = 62 *nunbanded* = 7). Dyad halves were ~17 min long and were separated by 1.3 - 2.2 h (median = 1.5 h). Each dyad half consisted of three 5 min trials separated by 1 min (Table 1).

I began dyads with a priming trial that entailed broadcasting a standardized conspecific song exemplar for 5 min. The purpose of the priming trial was to ensure that I had placed the speaker in the focal male's territory and confirm his color bands (when applicable). Additionally, the priming trial helped me ensure the sex of unbanded individuals as only males sing (Green et al. 2020). After the priming trial came the noise-control trial, which entailed broadcasting oilwell drilling noise only (Table 1). The purpose of the noise-control trial was to ensure that the experimental noise would not cause the focal male to flee the area. The main trial followed the noise-control trial (Table 1). In the main trials, I presented each focal male with a song exemplar (noise-adjusted or unadjusted song exemplar). This song exemplar was presented in one of two noise treatments (quiet or noise). As my study used a matched-stimuli playback design, a focal male's song exemplar remained the same for the second main trial. However, in the second trial, I used the opposite noise treatment of the first main trial (Table 1). In this way, focal males were exposed to a song exemplar in both quiet and noisy conditions. In each trial, I narrated the behaviors (e.g., total number of songs, total number of calls, total number of flybys past the song speaker) of focal males into a Zoom H4n Pro Digital Recorder (Zoom, Tokyo, Japan) which I later transcribed and tallied.

To control for potential effects of song or noise exemplar quality, I randomly assigned each focal male a unique stimuli combination (i.e., one song exemplar and one noise exemplar) to be used in noise-control trials and main trials across dyad halves (McGregor 2000, Grava et al. 2013). I controlled for effect order by randomly assigning each focal male one of two treatment orders for noise presentation in main trials: (1) noise then quiet, (2) quiet then noise. These random assignments were constrained, such that treatments were balanced (Milinski 1997). To control for potential effects of seasonal variation, I conducted each focal male's dyads on the same day. Playbacks of Baird's sparrow song cause males on adjacent territories to sing (Green 1992, Ahlering et al. 2006), so I did not test neighbors on the same day. Finally, I conducted playbacks under standardized conditions ( $\leq 6$  h after sunrise, average wind speed  $\leq 15$  km/h, and temperature > 0°C (Celsius)).

Table 1. Experimental playback design. This table depicts an example of a focal male's stimuli assignment with a Treatment Order of 1 (i.e., noise then quiet).

Dyad	Event	Description of Event	Time
1	Priming trial	Standardized priming exemplar broadcast	5 min
	No stimulus	No stimulus	1 min
	Noise-control	Noise exemplar broadcast	5 min
		Example: Noise exemplar # 1 broadcast	
	No stimulus	No stimulus	1 min
	Main trial	Song exemplar and noise exemplar broadcast	5 min
		simultaneously	
		Example: Song exemplar # 24 broadcast with noise	
		exemplar # 1	
	No Stimulus	Bird returns to normal behavior between dyad halves	~ 1.5 h
2	Priming trial	Standardized priming exemplar broadcast	5 min
	No stimulus	No stimulus	1 min
	Noise-control	Noise exemplar broadcast	5 min
	trial	Example: Noise exemplar # 1 broadcast	
	No stimulus	No stimulus	1 min
	Main trial	Song exemplar broadcast	5 min
		Example: Song exemplar # 24 broadcast	
## **Experimental Setup**

To simulate a male intruder, I broadcast song exemplars at ~88 dBc SPL at 1 m (reference level dBc 34.2 SPL) from a Traynor TVM50 portable amplifier (Yorkville Sound, Pickering, Ontario, Canada) (hereafter 'song speaker'). This amplitude was used because it is comparable to the natural amplitude of broadcast songs of Baird's sparrows (Koper et al. 2016). To simulate a noise disturbance on a focal male's territory, I broadcast oil-well drilling noise at ~87 dBc SPL at 1 m (reference level dBc 34.2 SPL) from a Mackie SRM350 v2 (LOUD Technologies, Woodinville, Washington, USA) (hereafter 'noise speaker') powered by a 12-volt deep-cell battery and portable inverter. Other similar studies broadcast oil-well drilling noise at an average of 88 dBc SPL at 10 m (Curry et al. 2017). However, I broadcast noise at the above amplitude to simulate an oil-well at a distance (Curry et al. 2017) and minimize potential observer error (Ortega and Francis 2010, Koper et al. 2016). I transported all experimental equipment to focal male territories using a modified bike cart. I observed all focal males prior to the playback setup to determine song perches and territorial boundaries. This was done because speaker placement, if outside of a male's territory, can influence results (Phillips and Derryberry 2018). After observing the focal male, I placed the song speaker at the approximate center of the focal male's territory. I then placed the noise speaker ~50 m from the song speaker; the speakers were oriented so that they faced one another (Figure 2). To aid in distance estimates, I placed ropes marked at 5-m and 10-m intervals at the base of the song speaker and in four directions (Figure 2). I minimized disturbance during trials by connecting each speaker to an iPhone 5s (Apple Inc., Cupertino, California, USA) via XLR cables. This permitted me to control the devices at a crouched location  $\sim 20$  m from the song speaker and 70 m from the noise speaker.



Figure 2. Schematic of experimental equipment used in playbacks (not to scale). In this figure, (A) represents the speaker used to broadcast song exemplars and ropes used to assist in distance estimates; (B) represents the speaker and battery used to broadcast oil-well drilling noise exemplars. Speakers were placed ~50 m apart. The location of all experimental equipment remained constant across a focal male's dyad halves.

## **Playback Files**

#### Noise exemplars

To create noise exemplars, I used existing high-quality audio files of oil-well drilling noise. These audio files were originally made in September-October 2013 by recording different active drilling rigs with Zoom H4n Digital Recorders (Zoom, Tokyo, Japan; WAV files at 48-kHz sample rate, 24-bit resolution) (Curry et al. 2017). I made three noise exemplars from three different oil-well drilling recordings in the program Audacity (Audacity Team 2018). To make a noise exemplar, I selected 5 min of oil-well drilling noise from one recording. This was done to ensure that the selection was free from sudden noises such as truck horns. Next, I edited the selection to create a 30-s fade-in to full volume, 4 min of full volume noise and 30-s fade-out. This step was done to preclude startling focal males with a sudden introduction of noise. Finally, to control for peak amplitudes across exemplars, I standardized the peak amplitude of the noise exemplar (Grabarczyk et al. 2019).

#### Song exemplars

To create song exemplars, I used existing recordings of free-living male Baird's sparrow songs made in May-July 2014 in the same region as my experiments (Curry et al. 2017). In these recordings, different individuals were recorded using Zoom H4n Digital Recorders with built-in stereo microphones angled at 90 degrees at maximal recording volume (WAV files at 48-kHz sample rate, 16-bit resolution). Songs were recorded by pointing the recorder directly at singing males (Curry et al. 2017). Baird's sparrows were recorded under two different acoustic treatments: (1) when background noise was limited to natural sounds (e.g., bird song and wind) (hereafter 'unadjusted songs'), and (2) within 400 m of experimental playbacks of recorded oil-well drilling noise broadcast at an average 88 dBc SPL at 10 m (hereafter 'noise-adjusted songs') (Curry et al. 2017). Unadjusted and noise-adjusted songs differed significantly for several acoustic parameters (Curry et al. 2017). When compared to recordings made under natural ambient noise conditions, Baird's sparrows recorded in the presence of noise decreased the peak frequency of their songs and altered five out of eight song syllables. Three of the five altered song syllables were introductory syllables, while the remaining two were trill syllables (Curry et al. 2017). Two introductory syllables displayed decreased frequency parameters, while one

introductory syllable displayed increased frequency. One trill syllable displayed increased power, and the second trill syllable displayed decreased power and shorter duration (Curry et al. 2017).

From these song recordings, I made 28 song exemplars (*nnoise-adjusted* = 14, *nunadjusted* = 14) from 28 different individuals in the program Audacity (Audacity Team 2018). To make a song exemplar, I used three different songs from the same focal male. Next, I spaced these songs at ~10 s (natural spacing) for 5 min (Cartwright et al. 1937). To reduce background and wind noise, I filtered each exemplar below 1000 Hz with a roll-off of 48 dB. Finally, to control for peak amplitudes across exemplars, I standardized the peak amplitude of the song exemplar (Grabarczyk et al. 2019).

## **Ambient Noise**

To characterize ambient noise levels, I recorded  $\geq 20$  s of ambient noise using a Zoom H4n Pro Digital Recorder (Zoom, Tokyo, Japan) immediately after each main trial. I made these ambient noise recordings by holding the device directly upwards at the location of the song speaker. I ensured that the device microphones were angled at 90° and that the maximal recording volume was used for each ambient noise recording. I made these ambient noise recordings as uncompressed audio (WAV files at 48 kHz sampling rate, 16-bit resolution). I used Raven Pro (v. 1.5) to extract the Average Power (dB) and Peak Power (dB) of four different frequency bands for each ambient noise recording using a Hann window function with a fast Fourier transformation length of 512 samples, 3 dB bandwidth set at 135 Hz and overlap of 50% (Table A3). Frequency band one included all possible frequencies in the ambient noise recording (0-24 kHz). Frequency band two included the frequency range below Baird's sparrow song (0-2 kHz). Frequency band four included the approximate frequency range above Baird's sparrow song (12-24 kHz).

I collected and extracted ambient noise values because I intended to use those as independent variables in subsequent analyses. However, I found that average wind speeds of > 5 km/h 'peaked' the microphone, leading to truncated measurements in Raven Pro. Given that 64% of trials occurred in conditions where average wind speeds exceeded 5 km/h, ambient noise values were not included in subsequent analyses (Table A3).

## STATISTICAL ANALYSES

#### **Fixed and Random Factors**

My playback experiments sought to determine if the territory-defense behavior of focal males during main trials differed between song treatments (noise-adjusted vs. unadjusted songs), between noise treatments (quiet vs. and noisy) and if there was an interaction between these treatments. To accomplished this I fitted generalized linear mixed-effects models to analyze four focal male responses: (1) "songs," total number of songs per trial, (2) "calls," total number of calls per trial, (3) "flybys," total number of flybys per trial and, (4) "song latency" the time elapsed from the start of the trial until the focal male's first song (s). To account for the repeated measures design, I used the focal male's identity as a random factor. I used the categorical variables of song treatment (0 = unadjusted and 1 = noise-adjusted) and noise treatment (0 =quiet and 1 = noisy) as fixed effects. I also explored the influence of five independent variables on focal male responses so that I could control for their effects if necessary. These independent variables included: (1) "Julian date," Julian date of playback experiment, (2) "start-time," start time of the trial (min), (3) "average wind speed," average wind speed recorded immediately after the trial (km/h), (4) "starting distance," focal male's distance from the song speaker at the beginning of the trial (m), and (5) "treatment order," treatment order of noise presentation (0 =quiet first and 1 = noise first). Variables 1-3 were centered around the mean.

#### **Model Selection**

I began by fitting each response variable with three different distributions, (1) Poisson, (2) nbinom1 (negative binomial distribution, linear parameterization) and, (3) nbinom2 (negative binomial distribution, quadratic parameterization) (Brooks 2020). This resulted in a total of twelve models, all of which included the five aforementioned independent variables. Next, to determine the best distribution for each response variable, I used Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC<sub>c</sub>) for small sample sizes to compare a response variable's three models. The lowest-scoring models for each response variable were selected as the best distribution, and these distributions were used in subsequent models. After this, I inspected the lowest scoring models of each response variable for significant independent variables. Independent variables were considered significant at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . Any independent variables identified as significant were included in subsequent models.

Next, I fitted each model with an interaction term between the categorical fixed effects of song treatment and noise treatment. Because count data often include more zeros than what is expected for Poisson or negative binomial distributions (Heilbron 1994), I assessed my three count data variables for zero-inflation. This was done by building two additional models for each of these response variables. These models included: (1) a model with constant zero-inflation (a single zero-inflation parameter applying to all observations), and (2) a model with complex zero-inflation (zero-inflation predicted by the interaction term) (Brooks et al. 2017). I inspected models that converged for significant interaction terms.

If the interaction term was non-significant, I deleted it from the model to decrease problems resulting from collinearity (Quinn and Keough 2002). If the interaction term was removed, I reassessed my data for zero-inflation by building three models for each response variable. Each model included the categorical fixed effects of song treatment and noise treatment. The three models included: (1) a non-zero inflated model, (2) a constant zero-inflation (an intercept-only) model, and (3) a complex zero-inflation (zero-inflation predicted by fixed effects) model (Brooks et al. 2017). As above, I then compared a response variable's three models using AIC<sub>c</sub> and selected the lowest scoring model for interpretation.

#### **R** Packages Used

I completed all analyses using R Statistical software (R Core Team 2020), and effects were considered significant at  $\alpha = 0.05$ . To develop generalized linear mixed-effects models, I used the package glmmTMB 1.0.1 (Brooks 2020). To compare models using AIC<sub>c</sub>, I used the package bblme 1.0.23.1 (Bolker 2020). To graph focal male responses, I used the package ggplot2 3.3.1 (Wickham 2020).

# RESULTS

Total songs produced by focal males in trials ranged from 0 to 37 (mean = 11.59, SD = 10.03, songs/trial). AIC<sub>c</sub> model selection among preliminary models supported a negative binomial (nbinom1) distribution (For detailed results see Appendix; Table A4, Table A5). There

was no interaction between song treatment and noise treatment on the total songs (P = 0.379, non-zero-inflated model, Table A6). AIC<sub>c</sub> model selection among main effects models supported the non-zero-inflated model (Table A7; Table A8). In this model, song treatment (noise-adjusted or unadjusted songs) did not influence the total number of songs (Table 2; Figure A4). There was a significant effect of noise on total songs, such that focal males sang less in response to simulated territorial intrusions in noisy trials when compared to quiet trials (Table 2; Figure A4). Although the focal male's starting distance was identified as an influential variable in the preliminary analysis (Table A5), this variable did not have a statistically significant effect in the final model selected for analysis (Table 2).

Total calls produced by focal males in trials ranged from 0 to 56 (mean = 6.79, SD = 11.40, call/trial). AIC<sub>c</sub> model selection among preliminary models supported a negative binomial (nbinom1) distribution (Table A4; Table A5). There was no interaction between song treatment and noise treatment on total calls (P = 0.564, non-zero-inflated model, Table A6). AIC<sub>c</sub> model selection among main effects models supported the non-zero-inflated model. In this model, song treatment did not have an influence on the total number of calls (Table 2). When compared to quiet trials, focal males tended to call more in noisy trials, however this result fell short of statistical significance (P = 0.065, Table 2; Figure A5). There was a significant effect of start time and average wind speed on calls (Table 2). Fewer calls were produced with earlier start times (Table 2). Meanwhile, more calls were produced with higher wind speeds (Table 2).

Total flybys over the song speaker by focal males in trials ranged from 0 to 15 (mean = 1.18, SD = 2.28, flyby/trial). AIC<sub>c</sub> model selection among preliminary models supported a Poisson distribution (Table A4; Table A5). There was no interaction between song treatment and noise treatment on the number of total flybys (P = 0.267, non-zero-inflated model, Table A6). AIC<sub>c</sub> model selection among main effects models of flybys supported the constant zero-inflation model (Table A8). In this model, song treatment did not influence the total number of flybys (Table 2). However, focal males did more flybys over the song speaker in noisy trials (Table 2; Figure A6). There was also a significant effect of focal male's starting distance and Julian date on total number of flybys; When focal males had a closer starting distance and when playbacks occurred earlier in the season, individuals engaged in more flybys (Table 2).

In 83% of trials, focal males responded to simulated intrusions by singing. Of these main trials, song latency ranged from 10-300 s per trial (mean = 71.36, SD = 76.79, song latency

(s)/main trial). AIC<sub>c</sub> model selection among preliminary models supported a negative binomial (nbinom2) distribution (Table A4; Table A5). Unlike other models, there was a significant interaction between song treatment and noise treatment on song latency (P = 0.028, Table 2). Focal males took longer to respond with song when presented unadjusted songs broadcast in conjunction with noise (Table 2; Figure 3). However, when main trials consisted of noise-adjusted songs broadcast with noise, song latency returned to normal (i.e., unadjusted songs broadcast without noise) (Figure 3). Lastly, there was a significant effect of treatment order such that song latency decreased when noise was presented first (Table 2).

Table 2. Final models of focal male responses selected for interpretation. All categorical variables were dummy coded: song treatment (0 = unadjusted vs. 1 = noise-adjusted), noise treatment (0 = quiet vs. 1 = noise), and treatment order (0 = quiet then noise vs. 1 = noise then quiet). Bold font represents statistical significance (P < 0.05).

Analysis	Distribution	Parameter	Estimate	SE	P value
Songs	Negative	(Intercept)	2.30	0.23	<i>P</i> < 0.001
	Binomial	Song Treatment (Noise-Adjusted)	0.34	0.24	0.156
	(Nbinom1)	Noise Treatment (Noise)	-0.28	0.12	0.018
		Starting Distance	-0.00	0.00	0.114
Calls	Negative	(Intercept)	1.06	0.31	0.001
	Binomial	Song Treatment (Noise-Adjusted)	0.00	0.32	0.998
	(Nbinom1)	Noise Treatment (Noise)	0.36	0.19	0.065
		Start Time	-0.01	0.00	<i>P</i> < 0.001
		Average Wind Speed	0.09	0.04	0.014
Flybys	Zero-Inflated	Conditional Model			1
	Poisson	(Intercept)	-0.25	0.41	0.541
	with constant	Song Treatment (Noise-Adjusted)	0.00	0.41	0.992
	zero inflation	Noise Treatment (Noise)	0.33	0.17	0.057
		Julian Date	-0.04	0.01	0.005
		Starting Distance	-0.02	0.01	0.004
		Zero-inflation model	1		1
		(Intercept)	-3.18	1.03	0.002
Song	Negative	(Intercept)	4.10	0.21	<i>P</i> < 0.001
Latency	Binomial	Song Treatment (Noise-Adjusted)	0.13	0.27	0.627
	(Nbinom2)	Noise Treatment (Noise)	0.70	0.24	0.003
		Treatment Order (1)	-0.50	0.21	0.020
		Song Treatment (Noise-Adjusted) * Noise Treatment (Noise)	-0.74	0.34	0.028



Figure 3. Song latency (s) of focal males (nindividuals = 63) in trials (ntrials = 115) by song treatment (nunadjusted-trials = 57; nnoise-adjusted-trials = 58), and noise treatment (nquiet-trials = 60; nnoisetrials = 55). Boxes represent the Inter-Quartile Range (IQR), and horizontal lines within boxes represent medians. Vertical lines (whiskers) denote upper and lower quartile ranges. Black dots represent outliers.

#### DISCUSSION

I found that song latency differed between noise-adjusted songs and unadjusted songs broadcast with noise. Focal males responded by singing sooner to noise-adjusted songs when compared to unadjusted songs in the presence of oil-well drilling noise. This suggests that in Baird's sparrows, noise-adjusted songs are easier to acoustically detect than unadjusted songs in noisy conditions. Therefore, noise-adjusted songs may partially restore acoustic communication in noise. In general, however, responses to noise-adjusted and unadjusted songs were similar. This suggests that noise-induced adjustments to songs do not alter the information encoded within. In other words, song types appear to be functionally equivalent in terms of information conveyed. However, territory-defense behaviors were strongly influenced by noise treatment. In noisy conditions, males sang less, called more, and engaged in more flybys over the song speaker. As discussed below, several mechanisms could be responsible for these behavioral changes.

#### Noise-Adjusted Songs Improve Detection and Maintain Song Content

My results indicate that song latency was mediated by an interaction between song treatment and noise treatment. Focal males took longer to respond with song to unadjusted songs in the presence of noise when compared to ambient noise conditions. Indeed, other studies have found agonistic responses to be delayed under noisy conditions (Kleist et al. 2016, Lenis and Guillermo-Ferreira 2020). This result suggests that the acoustic detection of unadjusted songs is constrained by competing noise, potentially due to acoustic masking. In contrast, when individuals were presented noise-adjusted songs broadcast with noise, their song latency was similar to that of unadjusted songs broadcast without noise. These results suggest that the song adjustments made by Baird's sparrows were effective in allowing songs to be heard better in the presence of noise, as has been reported in black-capped chickadees (*Poecile atricapillus*) (Lazerte et al. 2017) and great tits (*Parus major*) (Pohl et al. 2012). Thus, noise-adjusted songs might be considered adaptive in the sense that such signals can facilitate resident males to more quickly acoustically detect an intruder on their territory under noisy conditions.

Surprisingly, however, the remaining focal male responses did not vary with song treatment. This may suggest that male Baird's sparrows could not discriminate between song types, or that the differences in noise-adjusted songs and unadjusted songs are not biologically

39

important in male-male competition. This lack of discrimination is surprising because these song types differ significantly across several acoustic parameters (Curry et al. 2017) and because my above results suggest that the acoustic detection of song types differs. The lack of discrimination between song treatments in my research contrasts with findings from similar studies which have reported that focal male response differs when presented noise-adjusted and unadjusted songs in quiet conditions (Luther and Magnotti 2014, Curry et al. 2018). For example, Curry et al. (2018) concluded that because male Savannah sparrows displayed weaker responses (e.g., fewer attacks, wing flicks) to playbacks of noise-adjusted songs when compared to unadjusted songs in quiet environments, encoded information likely differed between unadjusted and noise-adjusted songs. In this way, noise-adjusted songs may have been perceived by focal males as less threatening.

# Noise Alters Territorial-Defense Behavior

In this study, the presence or absence of noise significantly influenced focal male territory-defense behavior. The number of flybys increased significantly, as did the number of calls (although not statistically significant) in the presence of noise. These results suggest that focal males became more aggressive or were more willing to escalate to physical conflict under noisy conditions. Indeed, in other sparrow species, an increased number of flybys past experimental speakers broadcasting conspecific songs has been determined as a reliable predictor of attack and an unequivocal sign of aggression (Searcy and Beecher 2009). In Baird's sparrows, calls are thought to increase during intense territorial conflicts (Green et al. 2020). If increased flybys and calls indeed represented increased aggression in the presence of noise, perhaps elevated stress levels induced by the noise is the causal mechanism underlying these results. Corticosterone is a glucocorticoid hormone involved in the endocrine stress response of birds (Romero et al. 2009), and research has found that individuals have higher corticosterone levels in habitats inundated with anthropogenic noise (Blickley et al. 2012b, Davies et al. 2017, Curry et al. 2018, Kleist et al. 2018). Additionally, several studies have found that individuals in noisy territories have more aggressive responses to simulated territorial intrusions (Phillips and Derryberry 2018, Grabarczyk et al. 2019, Wolfenden et al. 2019). Although not explicitly measured, some studies have suggested that elevated stress levels induced by anthropogenic noise may contribute to more aggressive responses (Phillips and Derryberry 2018, Wolfenden et al. 2019).

Although focal males sang fewer songs in the presence of noise, this may not conflict with the above interpretation of heightened aggression in the midst of noise. Song rate is a reliable predictor of aggression in some species (Baker et al. 2012) but not others (Searcy et al. 2006, Akçay et al. 2013). Other forms of signaling behavior, such as song-overlapping (Dabelsteen et al. 1997) or low-amplitude soft songs (Templeton et al. 2012), might convey aggressive motivation in Baird's sparrows. However, my study did not measure these additional song behaviors.

In a different interpretation, fewer songs but increased flybys past the experimental speaker might indicate that focal males were behaving in a manner that would allow for more information to be gleaned about the simulated rivals (Phillips and Derryberry 2018, Grabarczyk et al. 2019, Wolfenden et al. 2019). In general, ambient background noise reduces the active space of acoustic signals and moving closer to the signal source would allow receivers to better attend to the encoded information in signals (Brenowitz 1982, Lohr et al. 2003, Kleist et al. 2016). Furthermore, movement-based responses might allow focal males to spot the simulated rival if one was present. In this way visual information could be used as an additional means to determine the threat level posed by the intruder (McGregor and Falls 1984, Anderson et al. 2013). Lastly, focal males singing fewer songs during simulated territorial intrusions would prevent the creation of additional acoustic interference caused by their own signals (Akçay et al. 2020).

It is also possible that males sang less and increased the number of calls during noisy trials because the presence of noise altered individuals' perceived predation risk (Frid and Dill 2002). In other studies, anthropogenic noise has been implicated with increased perceived risk of predation in a variety of taxa (Quinn et al. 2006, Rabin et al. 2006, Shannon et al. 2016a). In a more general sense, perceived predation risk is a key shaper of behavior as the consequences of ignoring potential danger can be lethal (Lima and Dill 1990, Stanford 2002). Thus, individuals are predicted to temporarily halt or modify behaviors (e.g., foraging, attempting to attract mates) in exchange for vigilance or alarm calling in scenarios where perceived predation risk is acutely elevated (Ferrari et al. 2009, Engqvist et al. 2015). In avian studies, individuals often decrease song rate or amplitude when a real or experimentally simulated predator is near (Abbey-Lee et al. 2016, Akçay et al. 2016). This response is thought to occur because predators may eavesdrop on the songs of signalers to determine their location (Mougeot et al. 2000, Krams 2001). Indeed,

in the context of Baird's sparrows, individuals tend to cease singing when aerial predators are present (Cartwright et al. 1937, Waldinger, *personal observation*).

Regardless of the reason for them, these results suggest that noise-adjusted signals can partially, but not completely, compensate for the challenges presented by anthropogenic noise to acoustic communication. Additionally, the presence of noise appears to strongly influence male territory-defense behavior. These behavioral changes might contribute to the decline of this species in a variety of ways. For example, if the presence of noise increases aggression or requires males to get closer to rivals to assess their threat-level, the potential for physical conflicts would likely increase (Grabarczyk et al. 2019). When individuals engage in physical conflict, they may incur physical injuries (Clutton-Brock et al. 1979) or be more vulnerable to predation (Jakobsson et al. 1995, Brick 1998). In the context of the latter, predation risk may increase because physical conflicts can be visually conspicuous to predators (Jakobsson et al. 1995, Brick 1998). Furthermore, individuals in conflict may also experience greater predation risk because fighting can reduce an individual's vigilance due to distraction (Jakobsson et al. 1995, Brick 1998). Anthropogenic noise is also hypothesized to act as a cognitive distraction in species (Chan and Blumstein 2011, Grade and Sieving 2016). Therefore, engaging in physical conflict in habitats inundated with anthropogenic noise might exacerbate predation risk due to mechanisms related to distraction. Furthermore, all proposed interpretations of the results result in trade-offs among behaviors. If individuals spend more time searching for rivals or vigilant because of increased perceived predation risk, a likely outcome is less time spent foraging (Quinn et al. 2006, Klett-Mingo et al. 2016). This trade-off between behaviors could jeopardize an individual's ability to gain mass essential for homeostasis or successful fall migration (Kölzsch and Blasius 2008, Huey et al. 2012, Ware et al. 2015).

Finally, while my results do not readily indicate that focal males were able to distinguish between song types, intersexual interactions may be impacted by noise-adjusted signals (Halfwerk et al. 2011a). In some avian species, females select mates based on song characteristics such as trill performance because it likely is an honest signal of male quality (Ballentine et al. 2004, Caro et al. 2010). Females are expected to be more discriminating than males with respect to attending to information encoded in song as mating with a low-quality male could jeopardize a female's reproductive success (Catchpole and Slater 2008). As previously detailed, the noise-adjusted songs of Baird's sparrows display alterations to song trills (Curry et al. 2017). However, additional research is required to determine what, if any, role song plays in mate selection in this species and if noise-adjusted songs influence mate selection.

Still, it is possible that these interpretations inflate the impacts of noise on Baird's sparrow agonistic behavior. Individuals may habituate or become less reactive towards noise with repeated exposure (Dong and Clayton 2009, Nedelec et al. 2016). Therefore, the impacts of noise on territory-defense behavior may wane over time. Additionally, my study design examined only focal male responses to acoustic signals and did not include the use of a decoy or taxidermic mount. As a result, this study design may not have produced results representative of real territorial conflicts in this species. For example, visual cues, particularly for avian species living in open habitats, may be used in conjunction with acoustic cues to determine the location or threat level of potential rivals (McGregor and Falls 1984). Thus, attending to visual signals may safeguard communication in the presence of anthropogenic noise (Brumm and Slabbekoorn 2005, Hebets and Papaj 2005, Partan and Marler 2005, Akçay and Beecher 2019). Furthermore, in the absence of a decoy or taxidermic mount, the interpretation of more flybys past the experimental speaker during noisy trials as more aggressive is speculative as focal males did not have an item to attack (Searcy and Beecher 2009, Searcy et al. 2014).

# CONCLUSION

My study contributes to the limited body of research dedicated to investigating how anthropogenic noise and noise-adjusted signals influence receiver behavior. Noise-adjusted Baird's sparrow songs may partially improve acoustic detection in the presence of noise. Yet, unlike other studies, territorial-defense behavior did not differ between unadjusted and noiseadjusted songs. This may suggest that focal males could not discriminate between song types or that the differences between noise-adjusted songs and unadjusted songs are not biologically meaningful in the context of male-male competition. Instead, focal male responses were most strongly influenced by the presence or absence of noise. While it is uncertain what mechanism(s) caused these behavioral changes, it seems reasonable to conclude that anthropogenic noise constitutes a disturbance to this species.

## SUMMARY AND MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

The field of conservation behavior advocates the use of behavioral indicators to help pinpoint anthropogenic disturbances for populations or species (Berger-Tal et al. 2011). Identifying specific anthropogenic disturbances can facilitate the development of targeted management techniques (Sutherland 1998, Berger-Tal et al. 2011, Madliger 2012). In my study, I used territorial-defense behavior as a behavioral indicator and found that the noise-adjusted songs of Baird's sparrows may partially restore acoustic communication in noise. However, I found that the presence of anthropogenic noise significantly altered individual behavior, potentially in ways that could negatively impact the fitness of males living in noisy environments.

Behavioral changes displayed by Baird's sparrows in the presence of noise could be resolved by reducing noise. Noise reduction can be accomplished by implementing structural mitigation measures, like noise barriers, around infrastructure (Blickley and Patricelli 2010). However, additional vertical infrastructure may negatively impact Baird's sparrow abundance. Indeed, evidence suggests that Baird's sparrows, as well as other grassland songbird species, tend to avoid sites with vertical anthropogenic structures (Nenninger and Koper 2018). Alternatively, noise reduction can be accomplished by implementing opertional mitigation measures, like restricting oil and gas development and operations to months when migratory birds, such as Baird's sparrows, are not present (Blickley and Patricelli 2010). However, this form of mitigation might be logistically or economically untenable.

Perhaps the best way to manage noise and other forms of habitat disturbance to Baird's sparrow is to do so indirectly through landscape-scale planning (Dumyahn and Pijanowski 2011). Generally, Baird's sparrow abundance is impacted most severely by habitat loss and fragmentation as this can minimize patch size and introduce habitat edges (Davis 2004, Dale et al. 2007). To minimize habitat loss and fragmentation caused by the construction of new oil and gas infrastructure, the creation of new infrastructure should be restricted to already degraded sites while avoiding intact habitat cores (Kight et al. 2012, Thompson et al. 2015, Raynor et al. 2017). This action would be further optimized if it occurred in conjunction with the gradual decommissioning of infrastructure and reclamation of roads located in better quality habitat (Bernath-Plaisted and Koper 2016, Nenninger and Koper 2018). Additionally, because Baird's sparrow may also be sensitive to non-native plant species, reclaimed areas should be re-seeded

with a native seed to prevent the colonization of non-native plant species (Dale et al. 2007, Fansler and Mangold 2011). My recommended management approach is conceptually similar to the land-sparing approach found in agricultural literature where discrete purposes (i.e., conservation or intense agricultural production) are assigned to specific land parcels (Green et al. 2005, Fischer et al. 2008, Phalan et al. 2011). The strength of this approach is that it addresses the cumulative impacts of oil and gas development (Daniel and Koper 2019). Finally, although my research focused exclusively on Baird's sparrow, this management approach would stand to benefit multiple imperiled grassland species.

# REFERENCES

- Abbey-Lee, R. N., A. Kaiser, A. Mouchet, and N. J. Dingemanse (2016). Immediate and carryover effects of perceived predation risk on communication behavior in wild birds. Behavioral Ecology. *Behavioral Ecology* 27:708–716.
- Ahlering, M. A., D. H. Johnson, and J. Faaborg (2006). Conspecific attraction in a grassland bird, the Baird's sparrow. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 77:365–371.
- Akçay, C., and M. D. Beecher (2019). Multi-modal communication: Song sparrows increase signal redundancy in noise. *Biology Letters* 15: 1-6.
- Akçay, Ç., A. Clay, E. S. Campbell, and M. D. Beecher (2016). The sparrow and the hawk: aggressive signaling under risk of predation. *Behavioral Ecology* 27:601–607.
- Akçay, Ç., K. Y. Porsuk, A. Avşar, D. Çabuk, and C. C. Bilgin (2020). Song overlapping, noise, and territorial aggression in great tits. *Behavioral Ecology* 31: 807–814.
- Akçay, Ç., and W. A. Searcy (2015). Quiet threats: soft song as an aggressive signal in birds. *Animal Behaviour* 105:267–274.
- Akçay, C., M. E. Tom, S. E. Campbell, and M. D. Beecher (2013). Song type matching is an honest early threat signal in a hierarchical animal communication system. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 280: 20122517.
- Alberta Environment and Parks (2015). Alberta Wild Species General Status Listing 2015. [Online]. Available at https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/ad0cb45c-a885-4b5e-9479-52969f220663/resource/763740c0-122e-467b-a0f5-a04724a9ecb9/download/sar-2015wildspeciesgeneralstatuslist-mar2017.pdf.
- Anderson, R. C., A. L. DuBois, D. K. Piech, W. A. Searcy, and S. Nowicki (2013). Male response to an aggressive visual signal, the wing wave display, in swamp sparrows. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 67:593–600.
- Angeloni, L., M. A. Schlaefpfer, J. J. Lawler, and K. R. Crooks (2008). A reassessment of the interface between conservation and behaviour. *Animal Behaviour* 75:731–737.
- Antze, B., and N. Koper (2018). Noisy anthropogenic infrastructure interferes with alarm responses in Savannah sparrows (*Passerculus sandwichensis*). *Royal Society Open Science* 5: 172168.
- Askins, R. A., F. Chávez-Ramírez, B. C. Dale, C. A. Haas, J. R. Herkert, F. L. Knopf, and P. D.

Vickery (2007). Conservation of grassland birds in North America: Understanding ecological process in different regions. *Ornithological Monographs* 64:1–46.

- Audacity Team (2018). Audacity(R): Free Audio Editor and Recorder. [Online.] Available at https://audacityteam.org/.
- Baker, T. M., D. R. Wilson, and D. J. Mennill (2012). Vocal signals predict attack during aggressive interactions in black-capped chickadees. *Animal Behaviour* 84:965–974.
- Ballentine, B., J. Hyman, and S. Nowicki (2004). Vocal performance influences female response to male bird song: An experimental test. *Behavioral Ecology* 15:163–168.
- Ballentine, B., W. A. Searcy, and S. Nowicki (2008). Reliable aggressive signalling in swamp sparrows. *Animal Behaviour* 75:693–703.
- Barber, J. R., C. L. Burdett, S. E. Reed, K. A. Warner, C. Formichella, K. R. Crooks, D. M. Theobald, and K. M. Fristrup (2011). Anthropogenic noise exposure in protected natural areas: Estimating the scale of ecological consequences. *Landscape Ecology* 26:1281–1295.
- Barber, J. R., K. R. Crooks, and K. M. Fristrup (2010). The costs of chronic noise exposure for terrestrial organisms. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 25:180–189.
- Bayne, E. M., L. Habib, and S. Boutin (2008). Impacts of chronic anthropogenic noise from energy-sector activity on abundance of songbirds in the boreal forest. *Conservation Biology* 22:1186–1193.
- Beck, J. L., K. P. Reese, J. W. Connelly, and M. B. Lucia (2006). Movements and survival of juvenile greater sage-grouse in southeastern Idaho. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 34:1070–1078.
- Bee, M. A., and C. Micheyl (2008). The cocktail party problem: What is it? How can it be solved? And why should animal behaviorists study it? *Journal of Comparative Psychology* 122:235–251.
- Berger-Tal, O., T. Polak, A. Oron, Y. Lubin, B. P. Kotler, and D. Saltz (2011). Integrating animal behavior and conservation biology: A conceptual framework. *Behavioral Ecology* 22:236–239.
- Berger-Tal, O., and D. Saltz (2016). Introduction: the whys and the hows of conservation behavior. In Conservation Behavior: Applying Behavioral Ecology to Wildlife Conservation and Management (O. Berger-Tal and D. Saltz, Editors). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, pp. 3–35.

Bermúdez-Cuamatzin, E., C. M. Garcia, Ríos-Chelén, A. Ariel, and D. Gil (2009). Strategies of

song adaptation to urban noise in the house finch: Syllable pitch plasticity or differential syllable use? *Behaviour* 146:1269–1286.

- Bernath-Plaisted, J., and N. Koper (2016). Physical footprint of oil and gas infrastructure, not anthropogenic noise, reduces nesting success of some grassland songbirds. *Biological Conservation* 204:434–441.
- Bernath-Plaisted, J., H. Nenninger, and N. Koper (2017). Conventional oil and natural gas infrastructure increases brown-headed cowbird (*Molothrus ater*) relative abundance and parasitism in mixed-grass prairie. *Royal Society Open Science* 4:170036
- Blickley, J. L., D. Blackwood, and G. L. Patricelli (2012a). Experimental evidence for the effects of chronic anthropogenic noise on abundance of greater sage-grouse at leks. *Conservation Biology* 26:461–471.
- Blickley, J. L., and G. L. Patricelli (2010). Impacts of anthropogenic noise on wildlife: Research priorities for the development of standards and mitigation. *Journal of International Wildlife Law and Policy* 13:274–292.
- Blickley, J. L., and G. L. Patricelli (2012). Potential acoustic masking of greater sage-grouse (*Centrocercus urophasianus*) display components by chronic industrial noise. *Ornithological Monographs* 74: 23–35.
- Blickley, J. L., K. R. Word, A. H. Krakauer, J. L. Phillips, S. N. Sells, C. C. Taff, J. C. Wingfield, G. L. Patricelli, and N. Saino (2012b). Experimental chronic noise is related to elevated fecal corticosteroid metabolites in lekking male greater sage-grouse (*Centrocercus urophasianus*). *PLoS ONE* 7: e50462.
- Blumstein, D. T., and E. Fernández-Juricic (2004). The emergence of conservation behavior. *Conservation Biology* 5:1177.
- Bolker, B. (2020). Tools for General Maximum Likelihood Estimation. [Online.] Available at https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/bbmle/bbmle.pdf.
- Boncoraglio, G., and N. Saino (2007). Habitat structure and the evolution of bird song: A metaanalysis of the evidence for the acoustic adaptation hypothesis. *Functional Ecology* 21:134– 142.
- Braaten, R. F., and J. C. Leary (1999). Temporal induction of missing birdsong segments in European starlings. *Psychological Science* 10:162–166.
- Bradbury, J. W., and S. L. Vehrencamp (2011). Principals of Animal Communication. 2nd

edition. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Mass.

- Brenowitz, E. A. (1982). The active space of red-winged blackbird song. *Journal of Comparative Physiology* 147:511–522.
- Brick, O. (1998). Fighting behaviour, vigilance and predation risk in the cichlid fish *Nannacara anomala*. *Animal Behaviour* 56:309–317.
- Briefer, E., T. Aubin, K. Lehongre, F. Rybak, and E. Lahaye (2008). How to identify dear enemies: The group signature in the complex song of the skylark *Alauda arvensis*. *The Journal of Experimental Biology* 211:317–326.
- Brodie, J. F., A. J. Giordano, B. Dickson, M. Hebblewhite, H. Bernard, J. Mohd-Azlan, J. Anderson, and L. Ambu (2015). Evaluating multispecies landscape connectivity in a threatened tropical mammal community. *Conservation Biology* 29:122–132.
- Brooks, M. E. (2020). Generalized Linear Mixed Models using Template Model Builder. [Online.] Available at https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/glmmTMB/glmmTMB.pdf.
- Brooks, M. E., K. Kristensen, K. J. van Benthem, A. Magnusson, C. W. Berg, A. Nielsen, H. J. Skaug, M. Mächler, and B. M. Bolker (2017). glmmTMB balances speed and flexibility among packages for zero-inflated generalized linear mixed modeling. *The R Journal* 9:378–400.
- Brooks, R. J., and J. B. Falls (1975). Individual recognition by song in white-throated sparrows.II. Effects of location. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 53:1412–1420.
- Brown, C. H. (1989). The active space of blue monkey and grey-cheeked mangabey vocalizations. *Animal Behaviour* 37:1023–1034.
- Brumm, H. (2004). The impact of environmental noise on song amplitude in a territorial bird. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 73:434–440.
- Brumm, H. (2006). Signalling through acoustic windows: Nightingales avoid interspecific competition by short-term adjustment of song timing. *Journal of Comparative Physiology* 192:1279–1285.
- Brumm, H., and M. Bee (2016). A meta-analytic castle built on sand? A comment on Roca et al. *Behavioral Ecology* 27:1277–1278.
- Brumm, H., and M. Ritschard (2011). Song amplitude affects territorial aggression of male receivers in chaffinches. *Behavioral Ecology* 22:310–316.
- Brumm, H., and H. Slabbekoorn (2005). Acoustic communication in noise. Advances in the

Study of Behavior 35:151–209.

- Brumm, H., and P. J. B. Slater (2006). Ambient noise, motor fatigue, and serial redundancy in chaffinch song. *Behavioral Ecology* 60:475–481.
- Brumm, H., and D. Todt (2002). Noise-dependent song amplitude regulation in a territorial songbird. *Animal Behaviour* 63:891–897.
- Brumm, H., and S. A. Zollinger (2013). Avian Vocal Production in Noise. In Animal Communication and Noise. Animal Signals and Communication (H. Brumm, Editor). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 187–227.
- Brumm, H., S. A. Zollinger, P. T. Niemelä, P. Sprau, H. Schielzeth, and H. Schielzeth (2017).
   Measurement artefacts lead to false positives in the study of birdsong in noise. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 8:1617–1625.
- Buchholz, R. (2007). Behavioural biology: an effective and relevant conservation tool. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 22:401–407.
- Byers, J., E. Hebets, and J. Podos (2010). Female mate choice based upon male motor performance. *Animal Behaviour* 79:771–778.
- Cardoso, G. C., and Y. Hu (2011). Birdsong performance and the evolution of simple (rather than elaborate) sexual signals. *The American Naturalist* 178:679–686.
- Caro, S. P., K. B. Sewall, K. G. Salvante, and K. W. Sockman (2010). Female Lincoln's sparrows modulate their behavior in response to variation in male song quality. *Behavioral Ecology* 21:562–569.
- Caro, T. (2007). Behavior and conservation: a bridge too far? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 22:394–400.
- Cartwright, B. W., R. D. Harris, and T. M. Shortt (1937). Baird's sparrow. *Transactions of the Royal Canadian Institute* 46:153–198.
- Cartwright, L. A., D. R. Taylor, D. R. Wilson, and P. Chow-Fraser (2014). Urban noise affects song structure and daily patterns of song production in red-winged blackbirds (*Agelaius phoeniceus*). Urban Ecosystems 17:561–572.
- Caryl, P. G. (1979). Communication by agonistic displays: What can game theory contribute to ethology ? *Behaviour* 68:136–169.
- Catchpole, C. K., and P. J. B. Slater (2008). Bird Song: Biological Themes and Variations. Animal Behaviour. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.

- Center for Conservation Bioacoustics (2014). Raven Pro: Interactive Sound Analysis Software. [Online.] Available at http://ravensoundsoftware.com/.
- Chan, A. A. Y. H., and D. T. Blumstein (2011). Attention, noise, and implications for wildlife conservation and management. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 131:1–7.
- Chetkiewicz, C.-L. B., C. C. St. Clair, and M. S. Boyce (2006). Corridors for conservation: Integrating pattern and process. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 37:317–342.
- Chitnis, S. S., S. Rajan, A. Krishnan, and M. Naguib (2020). Sympatric wren-warblers partition acoustic signal space and song perch height. *Behavioral Ecology* 31:559–567.
- Clemmons, J. R., and R. Buchholz (1997). Behavioral Approaches to Conservation in the Wild. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Clutton-Brock, T. H., S. D. Albon, R. M. Gibson, and F. E. Guinness (1979). The logical stag: Adaptive aspects of fighting in red deer (*Cervus elaphus L*.). *Animal Behaviour* 27:211–225.
- Collins, S. (2004). Chapter 2 Vocal fighting and flirting: the functions of birdsong. In Nature's Music: The Science of Birdsong (P. Marler and H. Slabbekoorn, Editors). Academic Press, pp. 39–79.
- Copeland, H. E., A. Pocewicz, and J. M. Kiesecker (2011). Geography of Energy Development in Western North America: Potential Impacts on Terrestrial Ecosystems. In Energy Development and Wildlife Conservation in Western North America (D. E. Naugle, Editor). Island Press, Washington, DC, pp. 7–22.
- COSEWIC (2012). COSEWIC Assessment and Status Report on the Baird's Sparrow *Ammodramus bairdii* in Canada. [Online.] Available at https://www.sararegistry.gc.ca/virtual\_sara/files/cosewic/car\_rapport\_cos\_report\_1012\_e.pd f.
- Curry, C. M., B. Antze, M. H. Warrington, P. Des Brisay, P. Rosa, N. Koper, C. M. Curry, B. Antze, M. H. Warrington, P. Des Brisay, C. M. Curry, et al. (2017). Ability to alter song in two grassland songbirds exposed to simulated anthropogenic noise is not related to preexisting variability. *Bioacoustics* 4622:1–26.
- Curry, C. M., P. G. Des Brisay, P. Rosa, and N. Koper (2018). Noise source and individual physiology mediate effectiveness of bird songs adjusted to anthropogenic noise. *Scientific*

*Reports* 8:3942.

- Dabelsteen, T., O. N. Larsen, and S. B. Pedersen (1993). Habitat-induced degradation of sound signals : Quantifying the effects of communication sounds and bird location on blur ratio.
   *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 93:2206–2220.
- Dabelsteen, T., P. K. McGregor, J. Holland, J. A. Tobias, and S. B. Pedersen (1997). The signal function of overlapping singing in male robins. *Animal Behaviour* 53:249–256.
- Dabelsteen, T., P. K. McGregor, H. M. Lampe, N. E. Langmore, and J. Holland (1998). Quiet song in song birds: An overlooked phenomenon. *Bioacoustics* 9:89–102.
- Dale, B. C., T. S. Wiens, and L. E. Hamilton (2007). Abundance of three grassland songbirds in an area of natural gas infill drilling in Alberta, Canada. *Proceedings of the Fourth International Partners in Flight Conference: Tundra to Tropics* 194–204.
- Daniel, J., and N. Koper (2019). Cumulative impacts of roads and energy infrastructure on grassland songbirds. *The Condor* 121:1–21.
- Dannenbring, G. L. (1976). Perceived auditory continuity with alternately rising and falling frequency transitions. *Canadian Journal of Psychology* 30:99–114.
- Davies, N. B., and T. R. Hallidat (1978). Deep croaks and fighting assessment in toads *Bufo bufo*. *Nature* 274:683–685.
- Davies, S., N. Haddad, and J. Q. Ouyang (2017). Stressful city sounds: Glucocorticoid responses to experimental traffic noise are environmentally dependent. *Biology Letters* 13: 20170276.
- Davies, Z. G., and A. S. Pullin (2007). Are hedgerows effective corridors between fragments of woodland habitat? An evidence-based approach. *Landscape Ecology* 22:333–351.
- Davis, S. K. (2004). Area sensitivity in grassland passerines: effects of patch size, patch shape, and vegetation structure on bird abundance and occurrence in southern Saskatchewan. *The Auk* 121:1130–1145.
- Degregorio, B. A., P. J. Weatherhead, and J. H. Sperry (2014). Power lines, roads, and avian nest survival: Effects on predator identity and predation intensity. *Ecology and Evolution* 4:1589–1600.
- Derryberry, E. P., K. Gentry, G. E. Derryberry, J. N. Phillips, R. M. Danner, J. E. Danner, and D. A. Luther (2017). White-crowned sparrow males show immediate flexibility in song amplitude but not in song minimum frequency in response to changes in noise levels in the field. *Ecology and Evolution* 7:4991–5001.

- Dodgin, S. (2018). The tallgrass prairie aoundscape: Employing an ecoacoustic approach to understand grassland response to prescribed burns and the spatial and temporal patterns of nechrophilous invertebrate communities (Master's Thesis). [Online.] Available at https://scholars.unh.edu/thesis/1241.
- Dominoni, D. M., S. Greif, E. Nemeth, and H. Brumm (2016). Airport noise predicts song timing of European birds. *Ecology and Evolution* 6:6151–6159.
- Dong, S., and D. F. Clayton (2009). Habituation in songbirds. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory* 92:183–188.
- Dooling, R. J., and S. H. Blumenrath (2013). Avian Sound Perception in Noise. In Animal Communication and Noise. Animal Signals and Communication, vol 2. (H. Brumm, Editor). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 229–250.
- Dorado-Correa, A. M., M. Rodríguez-Rocha, and H. Brumm (2016). Anthropogenic noise, but not artificial light levels predicts song behaviour in an equatorial bird. *Royal Society Open Science* 3:160231.
- Douglas, H. D. I., and W. E. Conner (1999). Is there a sound reception window in coastal environments? Evidence from shorebird communication systems. *Naturwissenschaften* 86:228–230.
- Drolet, A., C. Dussault, and S. D. Côté (2016). Simulated drilling noise affects the space use of a large terrestrial mammal. *Wildlife Biology* 22:284–293.
- DuBois, A. L., S. Nowicki, and W. A. Searcy (2011). Discrimination of vocal performance by male swamp sparrows. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 65:717–726.
- Dubois, A., and J. Martens (1984). A case of possible vocal convergence between frogs and a bird in Himalayan torrents. *Journal of Ornithology* 125:455–463.
- Dumyahn, S. L., and B. C. Pijanowski (2011). Soundscape conservation. *Landscape Ecology* 26:1327–1344.
- Dunning, J. B., B. J. Danielson, and H. R. Pulliam (1992). Ecological processes that effect populations in complex landscapes. *Oikos* 65:169–175.
- Egnor, S. E. R., J. G. Wickelgren, and M. D. Hauser (2007). Tracking silence: Adjusting vocal production to avoid acoustic interference. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A: Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 193:477–483.

Embleton, T. F. W. (1996). Tutorial on sound propagation outdoors. The Journal of the

Acoustical Society of America 100:31–48.

- Engqvist, L., N. Cordes, and K. Reinhold (2015). Evolution of risk-taking during conspicuous mating displays. *Evolution* 69:395–406.
- Enquist, M. (1985). Communication during aggressive interactions with particular reference to variation in choice of behaviour. *Animal Behaviour* 33:1152–1162.
- Falls, J. B. (1988). Does song deter territorial intrusion in white-throated sparrows (*Zonotrichia albicollis*)? *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 66:206–211.
- Fansler, V. A., and J. M. Mangold (2011). Restoring Native Plants to Crested Wheatgrass Stands. *Restoration Ecology* 19:16–23.
- Ferrari, M. C. O., A. Sih, and D. P. Chivers (2009). The paradox of risk allocation: a review and prospectus. *Animal Behaviour* 78:579–585.
- Festa-Bianchet, M., and M. Apollonio (2003). Animal behavior and wildlife conservation. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Fischer, J., B. Brosi, G. C. Daily, P. R. Ehrlich, R. Goldman, J. Goldstein, D. B. Lindenmayer,
  A. D. Manning, H. A. Mooney, L. Pejchar, and J. Ranganathan (2008). Should agricultural policies encourage land sparing or wildlife-friendly farming? *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 6:380–385.
- Fisher, J. (1954). Evolution and bird sociality. In Evolution as a Process (J. Huxley, A. C. Hardy and E. B. Ford, Editors). Allen and Unwin, London, United Kingdom, pp. 71–83.
- Forrest, T. G. (1994). From sender to receiver: Propagation and environmental effects on acoustic signals. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 34:644–654.
- Francis, C. D., and J. R. Barber (2013). A framework for understanding noise impacts on wildlife: An urgent conservation priority. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 11:305–303.
- Francis, C. D., C. P. Ortega, and A. Cruz (2009). Noise pollution changes avian communities and species interactions. *Current Biology* 19:1415–1419.
- Francis, C. D., C. P. Ortega, and A. Cruz (2011a). Different behavioural responses to anthropogenic noise by two closely related passerine birds. *Biology Letters* 7: 850–852.
- Francis, C. D., J. Paritsis, C. P. Ortega, A. Cruz, A. Farina, and B. C. Pijanowski (2011b). Landscape patterns of avian habitat use and nest success are affected by chronic gas well compressor noise. *Landscape Ecology* 26:1269–1280.

- Frid, A., and L. Dill (2002). Human-caused disturbance stimuli as a form of predation risk. *Conservation Ecology* 6:11.
- Fuller, R. A., P. H. Warren, and K. J. Gaston (2007). Daytime noise predicts nocturnal singing in urban robins. *Biology Letters* 3:368–370.
- Gage, S. H., and A. C. Axel (2014). Visualization of temporal change in soundscape power of a Michigan lake habitat over a 4-year period. *Ecological Informatics* 21:100–109.
- Gardner, R., and M. R. Morris (1989). The evolution of bluffing in animal contests: an ESS approach. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 137:235–243.
- Gentry, K. E., E. P. Derryberry, R. M. Danner, J. E. Danner, and D. A. Luther (2017). Immediate signaling flexibility in response to experimental noise in urban, but not rural, white-crowned sparrows. *Ecosphere* 8: e01916.
- Getty, T. (1987). Dear enemies and the prisoner's dilemma: Why should territorial neighbors form defensive coalitions? *American Zoologist* 27:327–336.
- Gil, D., and M. Gahr (2002). The honesty of bird song: Multiple constraints for multiple traits. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 17:133–141.
- Gil, D., M. Honarmand, J. Pascual, E. Pérez-Mena, and C. Macías Garcia (2015). Birds living near airports advance their dawn chorus and reduce overlap with aircraft noise. *Behavioral Ecology* 26:435–443.
- Goossen, J. P., S. Brechtel, K. D. DeSmet, D. Hjertaas, and C. Werschler (1993). Canadian Baird's Sparrow Recovery Plan. Recovery of Nationally Endangered Wildlife Report.
- Gosling, L. M., and W. J. Sutherland (2000). Behaviour and Conservation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Gough, D. C., D. J. Mennill, and E. Nol (2014). Singing seaside: Pacific wrens (*Troglodytes pacificus*) change their songs in the presence of natural and anthropogenic noise. *The Wilson Journal of Ornithology* 126:269–278.
- Grabarczyk, E. E., S. A. Gill, and C. M. Somers (2019). Anthropogenic noise affects male house wren response to but not detection of territorial intruders. *PLoS ONE* 14: e0220576.
- Grade, A. M., and K. E. Sieving (2016). When the birds go unheard: highway noise disrupts information transfer between bird species. *Biology Letters* 12:20160113.
- Grava, T., A. Grava, and K. A. Otter (2013). Habitat-induced changes in song consistency affect perception of social status in male chickadees. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*

67:1699–1707.

- Green, A. W., C. L. Aldridge, and M. S. O'donnell (2017). Investigating impacts of oil and gas development on greater sage-grouse. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 8:46–47.
- Green, M. T. (1992). Adaptations of Baird's sparrows (*Ammodramus bairdii*) to grasslands: acoustic communication and nomadism [Ph.D. dissertation].
- Green, M. T., P. E. Lowther, S. L. Jones, S. K. Davis, and B. C. Dale (2020). Baird's Sparrow (Centronyx bairdii). *In Birds of the World*. [Online.] Available at https://doi.org/10.2173/bow.baispa.01.
- Green, R. E., S. J. Cornell, J. P. W. Scharlemann, and A. Balmford (2005). Farming and the fate of wild nature. *Science* 307:550–555.
- Gross, K., G. Pasinelli, and H. P. Kunc (2010). Behavioral plasticity allows short-term adjustment to a novel environment. *The American Naturalist* 176:456–464.
- Guilford, T., and M. S. Dawkins (1995). What are conventional signals? *Animal Behaviour* 49:1689–1695.
- Habib, L., E. M. Bayne, and S. Boutin (2007). Chronic industrial noise affects pairing success and age structure of ovenbirds *Seiurus aurocapilla*. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 44:176– 184.
- Haddad, N. M. (1999). Corridor use predicted from behaviors at habitat boundaries. *American Naturalist* 153: 215-227.
- Halfwerk, W., S. Bot, J. Buikx, M. van der Velde, J. Komdeur, C. ten Cate, and H. Slabbekoorn (2011a). Low-frequency songs lose their potency in noisy urban conditions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108:14549–14554.
- Halfwerk, W., L. J. M. Holleman, C. M. Lessells, and H. Slabbekoorn (2011b). Negative impact of traffic noise on avian reproductive success. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 48:210–219.
- Hall, M. L., S. A. Kingma, A. Peters, and N. Johnson (2013). Male songbird indicates body size with low-pitched advertising songs. *PLoS ONE* 8: e56717.
- Hardman, S. I., S. A. Zollinger, K. Koselj, S. Leitner, R. C. Marshall, and H. Brumm (2017). Lombard effect onset times reveal the speed of vocal plasticity in a songbird. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 220:1065–1071.
- Hart, P. J., R. Hall, W. Ray, A. Beck, and J. Zook (2015). Cicadas impact bird communication in a noisy tropical rainforest. *Behavioral Ecology* 26:839–842.

- Hebets, E. A., and D. R. Papaj (2005). Complex signal function: Developing a framework of testable hypotheses. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 57:197–214.
- Heilbron, D. C. (1994). Zero-altered and other regression models for count data with added zeros. *Biometrical Journal* 36:531–547.
- Heimann, D., and G. Gross (1999). Coupled simulation of meteorological parameters and sound level in a narrow valley. *Applied Acoustics* 56:73–100.
- Higgs, D. M., and M. F. Mickle (2018). Integrating techniques: A review of the effects of anthropogenic noise on freshwater fish. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 75:1534–1541.
- Higham, J. P., and E. A. Hebets (2013). An introduction to multimodal communication. *Behavioral Ecology* 67:1381–1388.
- Hilty, J. A., and A. M. Merenlender (2004). Use of riparian corridors and vineyards by mammalian predators in northern California. *Conservation Biology* 18:126–135.
- Holland, J., T. Dabelsteen, S. B. Pedersen, and O. N. Larsen (1998). Degradation of wren *Troglodytes troglodytes* song: Implications for information transfer and ranging. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 103:2154–2166.
- Hotchkin, C., and S. Parks (2013). The Lombard effect and other noise-induced vocal modifications: Insight from mammalian communication systems. *Biological Reviews* 88:809–824.
- Hu, Y., and G. C. Cardoso (2010). Which birds adjust the frequency of vocalizations in urban noise? *Animal Behaviour* 79:863–867.
- Huey, R. B., M. R. Kearney, A. Krockenberger, J. A. M. Holtum, M. Jess, and S. E. Williams (2012). Predicting organismal vulnerability to climate warming: Roles of behaviour, physiology and adaptation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 367:1665–1679.
- Illes, A. E., M. L. Hall, and S. L. Vehrencamp (2006). Vocal performance influences male receiver response in the banded wren. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 273:1907–1912.
- Ingelfinger, F., and S. Anderson (2004). Passerine response to roads associated with natural gas extraction in a sagebrush steppe habitat. *Western North American Naturalist* 64:385–395.

Injaian, A. S., L. Y. Poon, and G. L. Patricelli (2018). Effects of experimental anthropogenic

noise on avian settlement patterns and reproductive success. *Behavioral Ecology* 29:1181–1189.

Jakobsson, S., O. Brick, and C. Kullberg (1995). Escalated fighting behaviour incurs increased predation risk. *Animal Behaviour* 49:235–239.

Jones, S. L., and M. T. Green (1998). Baird's Sparrow Status Assessment and Conservation Plan. [Online.] Available at https://books.google.ca/books?id=0XC3XufPlsYC&pg=RA2-PA5&lpg=RA2-PA5&dq=%22Baird's+Sparrow+status+assessment+and+conservation+plan%22+%221997 %22&source=bl&ots=w\_L6m8p6XR&sig=ACfU3U2Qadz0IoW3EQeMmeomyV\_IbVNeY w&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwj\_jZ6r5KbnAhXCSt8KHcSIDO.

- Kight, C. R., M. K. Hinders, and J. P. Swaddle (2012). Acoustic space is affected by anthropogenic habitat features: Implications for avian vocal communication. *Ornithological Monographs* 74:47–62.
- Kight, C. R., and J. P. Swaddle (2015). Eastern bluebirds alter their song in response to anthropogenic changes in the acoustic environment. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 55:418–431.
- Kleist, N. J., R. P. Guralnick, A. Cruz, and C. D. Francis (2016). Anthropogenic noise weakens territorial response to intruder's songs. *Ecosphere* 7:1–11.
- Kleist, N. J., R. P. Guralnick, A. Cruz, and C. D. Francis (2017). Sound settlement: Noise surpasses land cover in explaining breeding habitat selection of secondary cavity-nesting birds. *Ecological Applications* 27:260–273.
- Kleist, N. J., R. P. Guralnick, A. Cruz, C. A. Lowry, and C. D. Francis (2018). Chronic anthropogenic noise disrupts glucocorticoid signaling and has multiple effects on fitness in an avian community. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115:648–657.
- Klett-Mingo, J. I., I. Pavón, and D. Gil (2016). Great tits, *Parus major*, increase vigilance time and reduce feeding effort during peaks of aircraft noise. *Animal Behaviour* 115:29–34.
- Kölzsch, A., and B. Blasius (2008). Theoretical approaches to bird migration: The white stork as a case study. *The European Physical Journal Special Topics* 157:191–208.
- Koper, N., L. Leston, T. M. Baker, C. Curry, and P. Rosa (2016). Effects of ambient noise on detectability and localization of avian songs and tones by observers in grasslands. *Ecology* and Evolution 6:245–255.

- Kopuchian, C., D. Alejandro Lijtmaer, P. Luis Tubaro, and P. Handford (2004). Temporal stability and change in a microgeographical pattern of song variation in the rufous-collared sparrow. *Animal Behaviour* 68:551–559.
- de Kort, S. R., E. R. B. Eldermire, E. R. A. Cramer, and S. L. Vehrencamp (2009). The deterrent effect of bird song in territory defense. *Behavioral Ecology* 20:200–206.
- Krams, I. (2001). Communication in crested tits and the risk of predation. *Animal Behaviour* 61:1065–1068.
- Krause, B. L. (1993). The Niche Hypothesis: A virtual symphony of animal sounds, the origins of musical expression and the health of habitats. *The Soundscape Newsletter*. [Online.] Available at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/295609070\_The\_niche\_hypothesis
- Kress, S. W. (1983). The use of decoys, sound recordings, and gull control for re-establishing a tern colony in maine. *Colonial Waterbirds* 6:185–196.
- Kress, S. W., and D. N. Nettleship (1988). Re-establishment of Atlantic puffins (*Fratercula arctica*) at a former breeding site in the Gulf of Maine. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 59:161–170.
- Krishnan, A., and K. Tamma (2016). Divergent morphological and acoustic traits in sympatric communities of Asian barbets. *Royal Society Open Science* 3:160117.
- Kroodsma, D. E., and B. E. Byers (1991). The function(s) of bird song. *American Zoologist* 31:318–328.
- Langemann, U., B. Gauger, and G. M. Klump (1998). Auditory sensitivity in the great tit: Perception of signals in the presence and absence of noise. *Animal Behaviour* 56:763–769.
- LaPoint, S., P. Gallery, M. Wikelski, and R. Kays (2013). Animal behavior, cost-based corridor models, and real corridors. *Landscape Ecology* 28:1615–1630.
- Lazerte, S. E., H. Slabbekoorn, and K. A. Otter (2016). Learning to cope: Vocal adjustment to urban noise is correlated with prior experience in black-capped chickadees. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 283:20161058.
- Lazerte, S. E., H. Slabbekoorn, and K. A. Otter (2017). Territorial black-capped chickadee males respond faster to high- than to low-frequency songs in experimentally elevated noise conditions. *PeerJ* 5: e3257.
- Lengagne, T., T. Aubin, J. Lauga, P. Jouventin, and M. Mésinel (1999). How do king penguins (*Aptenodytes patagonicus*) apply the mathematical theory of information to communicate in

windy conditions? *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 266:1623–1628.

- Lenis, P. R., and R. Guillermo-Ferreira (2020). Effect of noise on behavioural response to simulated territorial intrusion in the great kiskadee (*Pitangus sulphuratus*). Urban Ecosystems 23:93–96.
- Lenske, A. K. (2014). White-throated sparrows alter songs differentially in response to chorusing anurans and other background noise. *Behavioural Processes* 105:28–35.
- Lima, S. L., and L. Dill (1990). Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 68:619–640.
- Linhart, P., and R. Fuchs (2015). Song pitch indicates body size and correlates with males' response to playback in a songbird. *Animal Behaviour* 103:91–98.
- Linhart, P., H. Slabbekoorn, and R. Fuchs (2012). The communicative significance of song frequency and song length in territorial chiffchaffs. *Behavioral Ecology* 23:1338–1347.
- Linklater, W. L. (2004). Wanted for conservation research: behavioral ecologists with a broader perspective. *BioScience* 54:352–360.
- Lohr, B., T. F. Wright, and R. J. Dooling (2003). Detection and discrimination of natural calls in masking noise by birds: Estimating the active space of a signal. *Animal Behaviour* 65:763– 777.
- Lombard, E. (1911). Le signe de l'élévation de la voix. Annales des Maladies de l'Orielle, du Larynx, du Nez et du Pharynx 37:101–119.
- Lowry, H., A. Lill, B. B. M. Wong, and A. Iwaniuk (2012). How noisy does a noisy miner have to be? Amplitude adjustments of alarm calls in an avian urban "adapter." *PLoS ONE* 7:e29960.
- Luce, R., and D. Keinath (2003). Species Assessment for Baird's sparrow (*Ammodramus bairdii*) in Wyoming. [Online.] Available at http://www.uwyo.edu/wyndd/\_files/docs/reports/speciesassessments/bairdssparrowdec2003.pdf.
- Ludlow, S. M., R. M. Brigham, and S. K. Davis (2015). Oil and natural gas development has mixed effects on the density and reproductive success of grassland songbirds. *The Condor* 117:64–75.
- Luther, D. A., J. Phillips, and E. P. Derryberry (2016). Not so sexy in the city: urban birds adjust songs to noise but compromise vocal performance. *Behavioral Ecology* 27:332–340.

- Luther, D., and K. Gentry (2013). Sources of background noise and their influence on vertebrate acoustic communication. *Behaviour* 150:1045–1068.
- Luther, D., and J. Magnotti (2014). Can animals detect differences in vocalizations adjusted for anthropogenic noise? *Animal Behaviour* 92:111–116.
- Madliger, C. L. (2012). Toward improved conservation management: A consideration of sensory ecology. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 21:3277–3286.
- Manabe, K., E. I. Sadr, and R. J. Dooling (1998). Control of vocal intensity in budgerigars (*Melopsittacus undulatus*): Differential reinforcement of vocal intensity and the Lombard effect. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 103:1190–1198.
- Marten, K., and P. Marler (1977). Sound transmission and its significance for animal vocalization I. Temperate habitats. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 2:271–290.
- Martens, M. J. M., and A. Michelsen (1981). Absorption of acoustic energy by plant leaves. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 69:303–306.
- Mason, J. T., C. J. W. McClure, and J. R. Barber (2016). Anthropogenic noise impairs owl hunting behavior. *Biological Conservation* 199:29–32.
- Mathevon, N., T. Dabelsteen, and S. H. Blumenrath (2005). Are high perches in the blackcap *Sylvia atricapilla* song or listening posts? A sound transmission study. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 117:442–449.
- McDonald, M. V. (1989). Function of song in Scott's seaside sparrow, *Ammodramus maritimus peninsulae*. *Animal Behaviour* 38:468–485.
- McGregor, P. K. (1993). Signalling in territorial systems: a context for individual identification, ranging and eavesdropping. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 340:237–244.
- McGregor, P. K. (2000). Playback experiments: design and analysis. Acta ethologica 3:3-8.
- McGregor, P. K., and J. B. Falls (1984). The response of western meadowlarks (*Sturnella neglecta*) to the playback of undegraded and degraded songs. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 62:2125–2128.
- McGregor, P. K., A. G. Horn, M. L. Leonard, and F. Thomsen (2013). Anthropogenic Noise: Implications for Conservation. In Animal Communication and Noise. Animal Signals and Communication (H. Brumm, Editor). 2nd edition. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 409– 444.

- McIntyre, E., M. L. Leonard, and A. G. Horn (2014). Ambient noise and parental communication of predation risk in tree swallows, *Tachycineta bicolor*. *Animal Behaviour* 87:85–89.
- Mennill, D. J., and L. M. Ratcliffe (2004). Overlapping and matching in the song contests of black-capped chickadees. *Animal Behaviour* 67:441–450.
- Milinski, M. (1997). How To Avoid Seven Deadly Sins in the Study of Behavior. Advances in the Study of Behavior 26:159–180.
- Mockford, E. J., and R. C. Marshall (2009). Effects of urban noise on song and response behaviour in great tits. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 276:2979– 2985.
- Molles, L. E., and S. L. Vehrencamp (2001). Songbird cheaters pay a retaliation cost: Evidence for auditory conventional signals. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 268:2013–2019.
- Montague, M. J., M. Danek-Gontard, and H. P. Kunc (2013). Phenotypic plasticity affects the response of a sexually selected trait to anthropogenic noise. *Behavioral Ecology* 24:342–348.
- Morton, E. S. (1975). Ecological sources of selection on avian sounds. *The American Naturalist* 109:17–34.
- Morton, E. S. (1986). Predictions from the ranging hypothesis for the evolution of long distance signals in birds. *Behaviour* 99:65–68.
- Moseley, D. L., D. C. Lahti, and J. Podos (2013). Responses to song playback vary with the vocal performance of both signal senders and receivers. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 280: 20131401.
- Mougeot, F., V. Bretagnolle, and D. Bonnet (2000). Predation as a cost of sexual communication in nocturnal seabirds: An experimental approach using acoustic signals. *Animal Behaviour* 60:647–656.
- Mullet, T. C., S. H. Gage, J. M. Morton, and F. Huettmann (2016). Temporal and spatial variation of a winter soundscape in south-central Alaska. *Landscape Ecology* 31:1117– 1137.
- Naguib, M., and R. H. Wiley (2001). Review: Estimating the distance to a source of sound: Mechanisms and adaptations for long-range communication. *Animal Behaviour* 62:825–

837.

- Nasen, L. C., B. F. Noble, and J. F. Johnstone (2011). Environmental effects of oil and gas lease sites in a grassland ecosystem. *Journal of Environmental Management* 92:195–204.
- Nedelec, S. L., S. C. Mills, D. Lecchini, B. Nedelec, S. D. Simpson, and A. N. Radford (2016). Repeated exposure to noise increases tolerance in a coral reef fish. *Environmental Pollution* 216:428–436.
- Nemeth, E., and H. Brumm (2010). Birds and anthropogenic noise: Are urban songs adaptive? *The American Naturalist* 176:465–475.
- Nemeth, E., N. Pieretti, S. A. Zollinger, N. Geberzahn, J. Partecke, A. C. Miranda, and H. Brumm (2013). Bird song and anthropogenic noise: vocal constraints may explain why birds sing higher-frequency songs in cities. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 280:1–7.
- Nemeth, E., H. Winkler, and T. Dabelsteen (2001). Differential degradation of antbird songs in a Neotropical rainforest: Adaptation to perch height? *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 110:3263–3272.
- Nenninger, H. R., and N. Koper (2018). Effects of conventional oil wells on grassland songbird abundance are caused by presence of infrastructure, not noise. *Biological Conservation* 218:124–133.
- Nocera, J. J., G. J. Forbes, and L. A. Giraldeau (2006). Inadvertent social information in breeding site selection of natal dispersing birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 273:349–355.
- Nordt, A., and R. Klenke (2013). Sleepless in town drivers of the temporal shift in dawn song in urban European blackbirds. *PLoS ONE* 8:1–10.
- North American Bird Conservation Initiative Canada (2019). North American Bird Conservation Initiative Canada. [Online.] Available at http://nabci.net/wp-content/uploads/39-184-Bird-Survey-Corrections\_EN\_web.pdf.
- Olendorf, R., T. Getty, K. Scribner, and S. K. Robinson (2004). Male red-winged blackbirds distrust unreliable and sexually attractive neighbours. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 271:1033–1038.
- Ortega, C. P., and C. D. Francis (2010). Effects of gas-well-compressor noise on the ability to detect birds during surveys in north west New Mexico. *Ornithological Monographs* 74:78–

90.

- Osiejuk, T. S., and M. Manser (2014). Differences in frequency of shared song types enables neighbour-stranger discrimination in a songbird species with small song repertoire. *Ethology* 120:893–903.
- Owens, R. A., and M. T. Myres (1973). Effects of agriculture upon populations of native passerine birds of an Alberta fescue grassland. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 51:697–713.
- Partan, S. R., and P. Marler (2005). Issues in the classification of multimodal communication signals. *The American Naturalist* 166:231–245.
- Peek, F. W. (1972). An experimental study of the territorial function of vocal and visual display in the male red-winged blackbird (*Agelaius phoeniceus*). *Animal Behaviour* 20:112–118.
- Phalan, B., M. Onial, A. Balmford, and R. E. Green (2011). Reconciling food production and biodiversity conservation: Land sharing and land sparing compared. *Science* 333:1289– 1291.
- Phillips, J. N., and E. P. Derryberry (2018). Urban sparrows respond to a sexually selected trait with increased aggression in noise. *Scientific Reports* 8:7505–7510.
- Pijanowski, B. C., A. Farina, S. H. Gage, S. L. Dumyahn, and B. L. Krause (2011). What is soundscape ecology? An introduction and overview of an emerging new science. *Landscape Ecology* 26:1213–1232.
- Podos, J., D. C. Lahti, and D. L. Moseley (2009). Vocal performance and sensorimotor learning in songbirds. *Advances in the Study of Behavior* 40:159–195.
- Pohl, N. U., E. Leadbeater, H. Slabbekoorn, G. M. Klump, and U. Langemann (2012). Great tits in urban noise benefit from high frequencies in song detection and discrimination. *Animal Behaviour* 83:711–721.
- Potvin, D. A., and R. A. Mulder (2013). Immediate, independent adjustment of call pitch and amplitude in response to varying background noise by silvereyes (*Zosterops lateralis*). *Behavioral Ecology* 24:1363–1368.
- Potvin, D. A., R. A. Mulder, and K. M. Parris (2014). Silvereyes decrease acoustic frequency but increase efficacy of alarm calls in urban noise. *Animal Behaviour* 98:27–33.
- Potvin, D. A., K. M. Parris, and R. A. Mulder (2011). Geographically pervasive effects of urban noise on frequency and syllable rate of songs and calls in silvereyes (*Zosterops lateralis*).
   *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 278:2464–2469.
- Pullin, A. S., T. M. Knight, D. A. Stone, and K. Charman (2004). Do conservation managers use scientific evidence to support their decision-making? *Biological Conservation* 119:245– 252.
- Pyle, P., S. L. Jones, and J. M. Ruth (2008). Molt and aging criteria for four North American grassland passerines. *Biological Technical Publication* 189: vii–19.
- Pytte, C. L., K. M. Rusch, and M. S. Ficken (2003). Regulation of vocal amplitude by the bluethroated hummingbird, *Lampornis clemenciae*. *Animal Behaviour* 66:703–710.
- Quinn, G. P., and M. J. Keough (2002). Experimental Design and Data Analysis for Biologists. Experimental Design and Data Analysis for Biologists. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Quinn, J. L., M. J. Whittingham, S. J. Butler, and W. Cresswell (2006). Noise, predation risk compensation and vigilance in the chaffinch *Fringilla coelebs*. *Journal of Avian Biology* 37:601–608.
- R Core Team (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- Rabin, L. A., R. G. Coss, and D. H. Owings (2006). The effects of wind turbines on antipredator behavior in California ground squirrels (*Spermophilus beecheyi*). *Biological Conservation* 131:410–420.
- Raboin, M., and D. O. Elias (2019). Anthropogenic noise and the bioacoustics of terrestrial invertebrates. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 222: jeb178749.
- Raynor, E. J., C. E. Whalen, M. Bomberger Brown, and L. A. Powell (2017). Location matters: evaluating greater prairie-chicken (*Tympanuchus cupido*) boom chorus propagation. *Avian Conservation and Ecology* 12:17.
- Read, J., G. Jones, and A. N. Radford (2014). Fitness costs as well as benefits are important when considering responses to anthropogenic noise. *Behavioral Ecology* 25:4–7.
- Ręk, P., and T. S. Osiejuk (2010). Sophistication and simplicity: Conventional communication in a rudimentary system. *Behavioral Ecology* 21:1203–1210.
- Rheindt, F. E. (2003). The impact of roads on birds: Does song frequency play a role in determining susceptibility to noise pollution? *Journal fur Ornithologie* 144:295–306.
- Richards, D. G., and R. H. Wiley (1980). Reverberations and amplitude fluctuations in the propagation of sound in a forest: Implications for animal communication. *The American Naturalist* 115:381–399.

- Riecke, L., A. J. van Opstal, and E. Formisano (2008). The auditory continuity illusion: A parametric investigation and filter model. *Perception and Psychophysics* 70:1–12.
- Ríos-Chelén, A. A., G. C. Lee, and G. L. Patricelli (2015). Anthropogenic noise is associated with changes in acoustic but not visual signals in red-winged blackbirds. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 69:1139–1151.
- Ríos-Chelén, A. A., G. C. Lee, and G. L. Patricelli (2016). A comparison between two ways to measure minimum frequency and an experimental test of vocal plasticity in red-winged blackbirds in response to noise. *Behaviour* 153:1445–1472.
- Ríos-Chelén, A. A., A. N. McDonald, A. Berger, A. C. Perry, A. H. Krakauer, and G. L. Patricelli (2017). Do birds vocalize at higher pitch in noise, or is it a matter of measurement? *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 71:1–12.
- Ripmeester, E. A. P., A. M. De Vries, and H. Slabbekoorn (2007). Do blackbirds signal motivation to fight with their song? *Ethology* 113:1021–1028.
- Roca, I. T., L. Desrochers, M. Giacomazzo, A. Bertolo, P. Bolduc, R. Deschesnes, C. A. Martin, V. Rainville, G. Rheault, and R. Proulx (2016). Shifting song frequencies in response to anthropogenic noise: A meta-analysis on birds and anurans. *Behavioral Ecology* 27:1269–1274.
- Roch, L., and J. A. G. Jaeger (2014). Monitoring an ecosystem at risk: What is the degree of grassland fragmentation in the Canadian Prairies? *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 186:3299–3301.
- Romero, L. M., M. J. Dickens, and N. E. Cyr (2009). The reactive scope model a new model integrating homeostasis, allostasis, and stress. *Hormones and Behavior* 55:375–389.
- Rosa, P., C. R. Swider, L. Leston, and N. Koper (2015). Disentangling effects of noise from presence of anthropogenic infrastructure: Design and testing of system for large-scale playback experiments. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 39:364–372.
- Roy, S., C. T. Miller, D. Gottsch, and X. Wang (2011). Vocal control by the common marmoset in the presence of interfering noise. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 214:3619–3629.
- Rudnick, I. (1947). Fluctuations in intensity of an acoustic wave transmitted through a turbulent heated lamina. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 19:202–205.
- Ryan, M. J., and E. A. Brenowitz (1985). The role of body size, phylogeny, and ambient noise in the evolution of bird song. *The American Naturalist* 126:87–100.

- Ryan, M. J., R. B. Cocroft, and W. Wilczynski (1990). The role of environmental selection in intraspecific divergence of mate recognition signals in the cricket frog, *Acris crepitans*. *Evolution* 44:1869–1872.
- SARA (2020). Species at Risk Act Public Registry Baird's Sparrow (*Ammodramus bairdii*). [Online.] Available at https://species-registry.canada.ca/index-en.html#/species/36-851%23species\_summary.
- Schmidt, A. K. D., H. Römer, and K. Riede (2013). Spectral niche segregation and community organization in a tropical cricket assemblage. *Behavioral Ecology* 24:470–480.
- Searcy, W. A., C. Akçay, S. Nowicki, and M. D. Beecher (2014). Aggressive Signaling in Song Sparrows and Other Songbirds. *Advances in the Study of Behavior* 46:89–125.
- Searcy, W. A., R. C. Anderson, and S. Nowicki (2006). Bird song as a signal of aggressive intent. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 60:234–241.
- Searcy, W. A., B. Ballentine, R. C. Anderson, and S. Nowicki (2013). Limits to reliability in avian aggressive signals. *Behaviour* 150:1129–1145.
- Searcy, W. A., and M. D. Beecher (2009). Song as an aggressive signal in songbirds. *Animal Behaviour* 78:1281–1292.
- Searcy, W. A., S. Nowicki, and M. Hughes (1998). The territory defense function of song in song sparrows: A test with the speaker occupation design. *Behaviour* 135:615–628.
- Shannon, G., K. R. Crooks, G. Wittemyer, K. M. Fristrup, and L. M. Angeloni (2016a). Road noise causes earlier predator detection and flight response in a free-ranging mammal. *Behavioral Ecology* 27:1370–1375.
- Shannon, G., M. F. McKenna, L. M. Angeloni, K. R. Crooks, K. M. Fristrup, E. Brown, K. A. Warner, M. D. Nelson, C. White, J. Briggs, S. McFarland, and G. Wittemyer (2016b). A synthesis of two decades of research documenting the effects of noise on wildlife. *Biological Reviews* 91:982–1005.
- Shier, D. (2016). Manipulating animal behavior to ensure reintroduction success. In Conservation Behavior: Applying Behavioral Ecology to Wildlife Conservation and Management (O. Berger-Tal and D. Saltz, Editors). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, pp. 275–304.
- Sih, A. (2013). Understanding variation in behavioural responses to human-induced rapid environmental change: A conceptual overview. *Animal Behaviour* 85:1077–1088.

- Sih, A., M. C. O. Ferrari, and D. J. Harris (2011). Evolution and behavioural responses to human-induced rapid environmental change. *Evolutionary Applications* 4:367–387.
- Slabbekoorn, H., and E. A. P. Ripmeester (2008). Birdsong and anthropogenic noise: Implications and applications for conservation. *Molecular Ecology* 17:72–83.
- Smith, D. G. (1979). Male singing ability and territory integrity in red-winged blackbirds (*Ageliaus Phoeniceus*). *Behaviour* 68:193–206.
- Smith, M. J., and D. G. C. Harper (1995). Animal signals: Models and terminology. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 177:305–311.
- Smith, M. J., and G. R. Price (1973). The logic of animal conflict. *Nature* 246:15–18.
- Stanford, C. B. (2002). Avoiding predators: Expectations and evidence in primate antipredator behavior. *International Journal of Primatology* 23:741–757.
- Sung, H.-C., and P. Handford (2020). Song characters as reliable indicators of male reproductive quality in the Savannah sparrow (*Passerculus sandwichensis*). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 98:32–38.
- Sutherland, W. J. (1998). The importance of behavioral studies in conservation biology. *Animal Behaviour* 56:801–809.
- Sutherland, W. J., A. S. Pullin, P. M. Dolman, and T. M. Knight (2004). The need for evidencebased conservation. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 19:305–308.
- Sutter, G. C., S. K. Davis, and D. C. Duncan (2000). Grassland songbird abundance along roads and trails in southern Saskatchewan. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 71:110–116.
- Sutter, G. C., T. Troupe, and M. Forbes (1995). Abundance of Baird's sparrows, *Ammodramus bairdii*, in native prairie and introduced vegetation. *Ecoscience* 2:344–348.
- Swaddle, J. P., and L. C. Page (2007). High levels of environmental noise erode pair preferences in zebra finches: implications for noise pollution. *Animal Behaviour* 74:363–368.
- Swaisgood, R. R., X. Zhou, G. Zhang, D. G. Lindburg, and H. Zhang (2003). Application of behavioral knowledge to conservation in the giant panda. *International Journal of Comparative Psychology* 16:65–84.
- Sylvester, K. M., D. G. Brown, G. D. Deane, and R. N. Kornak (2013). Land transitions in the American plains: Multilevel modeling of drivers of grassland conversion (1956-2006). *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 168:7–15.

Temeles, E. J. (1994). The role of neighbours in territorial systems: When are they "dear

enemies"? Animal Behaviour 47:339-350.

- Templeton, C. N., Ç. Akçay, E. Campbell, and M. D. Beecher (2012). Soft song is a reliable signal of aggressive intent in song sparrows. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 66:1503–1509.
- Templeton, C. N., S. A. Zollinger, and H. Brumm (2016). Traffic noise drowns out great tit alarm calls. *Current Biology* 26:R1173–R1174.
- Thompson, S. J., D. H. Johnson, N. D. Niemuth, and C. A. Ribic (2015). Avoidance of unconventional oil wells and roads exacerbates habitat loss for grassland birds in the North American great plains. *Biological Conservation* 192:82–90.
- Tyack, P. L., W. M. X. Zimmer, D. Moretti, B. L. Southall, D. E. Claridge, J. W. Durban, C. W. Clark, A. D'Amico, N. DiMarzio, S. Jarvis, E. McCarthy, et al. (2011). Beaked whales respond to simulated and actual navy sonar. *PLoS ONE* 6: e17009.
- Vargas-Salinas, Fernando Cunnington, G. M., A. Amézquita, and L. Fahrig (2014). Does traffic noise alter calling time in frogs and toads? A case study of anurans in eastern Ontario, Canada. Urban Ecosystems 17:945–953.
- Verzijden, M. N., E. A. P. Ripmeester, V. R. Ohms, P. Snelderwaard, and H. Slabbekoorn (2010). Immediate spectral flexibility in singing chiffchaffs during experimental exposure to highway noise. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 213:2575–2581.
- Ward, M. P., and S. Schlossberg (2004). Conspecific attraction and the conservation of territorial songbirds. *Conservation Biology* 18:519–525.
- Ware, H. E., C. J. W. McClure, J. D. Carlisle, and J. R. Barber (2015). A phantom road experiment reveals traffic noise is an invisible source of habitat degradation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112:12105–12109.
- Warrington, M. H., C. M. Curry, B. Antze, and N. Koper (2018). Noise from four types of extractive energy infrastructure affects song features of Savannah sparrows. 120:1–16.
- Watanabe, T., and S. Yamada (1996). Sound attenuation through absorption by vegetation. *Journal of the Acoustical Society of Japan* (E) 17:175–182.
- Wells, M. S. (1988). Effects of body size and resource value on fighting behaviour in a jumping spider. *Animal Behaviour* 36:321–326.
- Wheelwright, N. T., M. B. Swett, I. I. Levin, D. E. Kroodsma, C. R. Freeman-Gallant, and H.Williams (2008). The influence of different tutor types on song learning in a natural bird

population. *Animal Behaviour* 75:1479–1493.

- Wickham, H. (2020). Create Elegant Data Visualisations Using the Grammar of Graphics. [Online.] Available at https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/ggplot2/ggplot2.pdf.
- Wiggins, D. A. (2006). Baird's sparrow (Ammodramus bairdii): a technical conservation assessment. [Online.] Available at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281860948\_Baird's\_Sparrow\_Ammodramus\_bair dii\_A\_Technical\_Conservation\_Assessment.
- Wikelski, M., R. W. Kays, N. J. Kasdin, K. Thorup, J. A. Smith, and J. G. W. Swenson (2007).Going wild: What a global small-animal tracking system could do for experimental biologists. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 210:181–186.
- Wiley, R. H. (2013). Signal detection, noise, and the evolution of communication. In Animal Communication and Noise. Animal Signals and Communication, vol 2. (H. Brumm, Editor). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 7–30.
- Wiley, R. H. (2017). How noise determines the evolution of communication. *Animal Behaviour* 124:307–313.
- Wiley, R. H., and D. G. Richards (1978). Physical constraints on acoustic communication in the atmosphere: Implications for the evolution of animal vocalizations. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 3:69–94.
- Williams, R., A. J. Wright, E. Ashe, L. K. Blight, R. Bruintjes, R. Canessa, C. W. Clark, S. Cullis-Suzuki, D. T. Dakin, C. Erbe, P. S. Hammond, et al. (2015). Impacts of anthropogenic noise on marine life: Publication patterns, new discoveries, and future directions in research and management. *Ocean and Coastal Management* 115:17–24.
- Wilsey, C., J. Grand, J. Wu, N. Michel, J. Grogan-Brown, and Trusty B (2019). North American Grasslands and Birds Report. [Online.] Available at https://www.audubon.org/sites/default/files/audubon\_north\_american\_grasslands\_birds\_rep ort-final.pdf.
- Wolfenden, A. D., H. Slabbekoorn, K. Kluk, S. R. de Kort, and E. P. Derryberry (2019). Aircraft sound exposure leads to song frequency decline and elevated aggression in wild chiffchaffs. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 88:1720–1731.
- Wong, B. B. M., and U. Candolin (2015). Behavioral responses to changing environments. *Behavioral Ecology* 26:665–673.

- Yang, X. J., and H. Slabbekoorn (2014). Timing vocal behavior: Lack of temporal overlap avoidance to fluctuating noise levels in singing Eurasian wrens. *Behavioural Processes* 108:131–137.
- Zahavi, A. (1977). The cost of honesty. Further remarks on the Handicap Principle. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 67:603–605.
- Zhou, Y., A. N. Radford, R. D. Magrath, and K. W. Sockman (2019). Why does noise reduce response to alarm calls? Experimental assessment of masking, distraction and greater vigilance in wild birds. *Functional Ecology* 33:1280–1289.
- Zollinger, S. A., and H. Brumm (2011). The Lombard effect. Current Biology 21:614–615.
- Zollinger, S. A., J. Podos, E. Nemeth, F. Goller, and H. Brumm (2012). On the relationship between, and measurement of, amplitude and frequency in birdsong. *Animal Behaviour* 84: e1-e9.
- Zwart, M. C., J. C. Dunn, P. J. K. McGowan, and M. J. Whittingham (2016). Wind farm noise suppresses territorial defense behavior in a songbird. *Behavioral Ecology* 27:101–108.

## APPENDIX

Table A3. Average Power (dB) and Peak Power (dB) values measured for four frequency bands from ambient noise recordings using Raven Pro (v. 1.5). This table displays only the values of ambient noise recordings when wind was < 5 km/h (50 of 135 dyads). The values from the right and left channels were averaged.

Parameter	Frequency band	Average	Min.	Max.	Range	SD
Average	Frequency Band 1 (0-24 kHz)	57.13	45.50	72.90	27.40	6.67
Power (dB)	Frequency Band 2 (0-2 kHz)	67.43	55.90	83.60	27.70	6.87
	Frequency Band 3 (2-12 kHz)	41.99	27.40	66.50	39.10	6.99
	Frequency Band 4 (12-24kHz)	28.69	20.90	43.80	22.90	2.52
Peak Power	Frequency Band 1 (0-24 kHz)	95.49	79.80	112.70	32.90	7.73
(dB)	Frequency Band 2 (0-2 kHz)	95.29	79.80	112.70	32.90	7.86
	Frequency Band 3 (2-12 kHz)	77.66	57.60	103.50	45.90	9.45
	Frequency Band 4 (12-24kHz)	45.82	33.60	80.70	47.10	8.19

Analysis	Model	$\Delta \operatorname{AIC}_{c}$	AICc	df
Songs	Nbinom1	935.4	0.0	8
	Nbinom2	966.6	31.2	8
	Poisson	1069.8	134.5	7
Calls	Nbinom1	699.8	0.0	8
	Nbinom2	716.7	16.9	8
	Poisson	906.2	206.4	7
Flybys	Poisson	358.8	0.0	7
	Nbinom2	360.7	1.9	8
	Nbinom1	360.7	1.9	8
Song Latency	Nbinom2	1242.1	0.0	8
	Nbinom1	1246.3	4.3	8
	Poisson	3928.6	2686.5	7

*Table A4. AICc selection results from preliminary independent variable models. Selection occurred between nbinom1, nbinom2, and Poisson distributions.* 

Table A5. Preliminary models of independent variables inspected for significance. The categorical variable "Treatment Order" was dummy coded: (0 = quiet then noise vs. 1 = noise then quiet). Bold font represents statistical significance (P < 0.05).

Analysis	Distribution	Parameter	Estimate	SE	P value
Songs	Negative	(Intercept)	2.27	0.21	<i>P</i> < 0.001
	Binomial	Julian Date	-0.00	0.01	0.825
	(Nbinom1)	Start Time	0.00	0.00	0.357
		Average Wind Speed	-0.03	0.03	0.272
		Starting Distance	-0.01	0.00	0.055
		Treatment Order (1)	0.29	0.23	0.213
Calls	Negative	(Intercept)	1.61	0.33	<i>P</i> < 0.001
	Binomial	Julian Date	-0.01	0.00	0.509
	(Nbinom1)	Start Time	-0.01	0.00	<i>P</i> < 0.001
		Average Wind Speed	0.09	0.04	0.015
		Starting Distance	-0.01	0.00	0.313
		Treatment Order (1)	-0.21	0.31	0.491
Flybys	Poisson	(Intercept)	-0.09	0.35	0.806
		Julian Date	-0.04	0.01	0.004
		Start Time	-0.00	0.00	0.069
		Average Wind Speed	-0.02	0.03	0.620
		Starting Distance	-0.01	0.01	0.021
		Treatment Order (1)	-0.48	0.39	0.221
Song	Negative	(Intercept)	4.45	0.20	<i>P</i> < 0.001
Latency	Binomial	Julian Date	-0.01	0.00	0.312
	(Nbinom2)	Start Time	-0.00	0.00	0.906
		Average Wind Speed	0.02	0.03	0.534
		Starting Distance	-0.00	0.00	0.536
		Treatment Order (1)	-0.48	0.22	0.028

Table A6. Preliminary models inspected for significant interactions. Models selected for interpretation (see Table 2) and models that failed to converge are not displayed. All categorical variables were dummy coded: song treatment (0 = unadjusted vs. 1 = noise-adjusted), noise treatment (0 = quiet vs. 1 = noise), and treatment order (0 = quiet then noise vs. 1 = noise then quiet). Bold font represents statistical significance (P < 0.05).

A 1 '	D' / 1 /	D (		<b>CD</b>	D 1	
Analysis	Distribution	Parameter	Estimate	SE	P value	
Songs	Negative	(Intercept)	2.36	0.24	<i>P</i> < 0.001	
	Binomial	Song Treatment (1)	0.24	0.26	0.346	
	(Nbinom1)	Noise Treatment (1)	-0.40	0.18	0.028	
		Starting Distance	-0.01	0.00	0.089	
		Song Treat. (1) * Noise Treat. (1)	0.21	0.24	0.379	
Songs	Zero-Inflated	Conditional Model				
	Negative Binomial	(Intercept)	2.36	0.24	<i>P</i> < 0.001	
		Song Treatment (1)	0.24	0.26	0.346	
	(Nbinom1)	Noise Treatment (1)	-0.40	0.18	0.028	
	with constant	Starting Distance	-0.01	0.00	0.089	
	zero inflation	Song Treat. (1) * Noise Treat. (1)	0.21	0.24	0.379	
		Zero-inflated Model				
		(Intercept)	-20.66	4833.30	0.997	
Calls	Negative	(Intercept)	1.13	0.33	0.001	
	Binomial (Nbinom1)	Song Treatment (1)	-0.13	0.39	0.739	
		Noise Treatment (1)	0.25	0.27	0.362	
		Start Time	-0.01	0.00	<i>P</i> < 0.001	
		Average Wind Speed	0.09	0.04	0.017	
		Song Treat. (1) * Noise Treat. (1)	0.23	0.39	0.564	
Calls	Zero-Inflated Negative	Conditional Model				
		(Intercept)	1.13	0.33	0.001	
	Binomial	Song Treatment (1)	-0.13	0.39	0.739	
	with constant zero inflation	Noise Treatment (1)	0.25	0.27	0.362	
		Start Time	-0.01	0.00	<i>P</i> < 0.001	
		Average Wind Speed	0.09	0.04	0.017	
		Song Treat. (1) * Noise Treat. (1)	0.23	0.39	0.564	
		Zero-inflated Model				
		(Intercept)	-20.34	6032.35	0.997	
Flybys	Poisson	(Intercept)	-0.65	0.42	0.127	
		Song Treatment (1)	0.27	0.45	0.549	
		Noise Treatment (1)	0.62	0.25	0.015	
		Julian Date	-0.04	0.01	0.004	
		Starting Distance	-0.01	0.01	0.017	
		Song Treat, (1) * Noise Treat, (1)	-0.36	0.33	0.267	

Table A7. Preliminary main effects models. Models selected for interpretation (see Table 2) and models that failed to converge are not displayed. All categorical variables were dummy coded: song treatment (0 = unadjusted vs. 1 = noise-adjusted), noise treatment (0 = quiet vs. 1 = noise), and treatment order (0 = quiet then noise vs. 1 = noise then quiet). Bold font represents statistical significance (P < 0.05).

Analysis	Distribution	Parameter	Estimate	SE	<i>P</i> value	
Calls	Zero-Inflated	Conditional Model				
	Negative Binomial with constant zero inflation (Nbinom1)	(Intercept)	1.06	0.31	0.001	
		Song Treatment (1)	-0.00	0.32	0.998	
		Noise Treatment (1)	0.36	0.19	0.065	
		Start Time	-0.01	0.00	<i>P</i> < 0.001	
		Average Wind Speed	0.09	0.04	0.014	
		Zero-Inflated Model				
		(Intercept)	-20.03	5182.52	0.997	
Flybys	Poisson	(Intercept)	-0.50	0.40	0.208	
		Song Treatment (1)	0.05	0.40	0.892	
		Noise Treatment (1)	0.41	0.17	0.014	
		Julian Date	-0.04	0.01	0.004	
		Starting Distance	-0.01	0.01	0.014	

Table A8. AIC<sub>c</sub> selection of preliminary main effects models. Selection occurred between: (1) non-zero inflated models, (2) zero-inflated models with constant inflation, and (3) zero-inflated models with complex zero inflation.

Model	AICc	$\Delta \operatorname{AIC}_{c}$	df
Song (1)	926.2	0.0	6
Song (2)	NA	NA	7
Song (3)	NA	NA	9
Call (1)	696.1	0.0	7
Call (2)	698.4	2.3	8
Call (3)	NA	NA	10
Flyby (2)	358.9	0.0	7
Flyby (1)	360.5	1.6	6
Flyby (3)	NA	NA	9



Figure A4. Number of songs by focal males (nindividuals = 69) in trials by (A) Song treatment (nunadjusted-trials = 68; nnoise-adjusted-trials = 70), and (B) noise treatment (nquiet-trials = 69; nnoise-trials = 69). Boxes represent the Inter-Quartile Range (IQR), and horizontal lines within boxes represent medians. Vertical lines (whiskers) denote upper and lower quartile ranges. Black dots represent outliers.



Figure A5. Number of calls by focal males (nindividuals = 69) in trials by (A) Song treatment (nunadjusted-trials = 68; nnoise-adjusted-trials = 70), and (B) noise treatment (nquiet-trials = 69; nnoise-trials = 69). Boxes represent the Inter-Quartile Range (IQR), and horizontal lines within boxes represent medians. Vertical lines (whiskers) denote upper and lower quartile ranges. Black dots represent outliers.



Figure A6. Number of flybys by focal males (nindividuals = 69) in trials by (A) Song treatment (nunadjusted-trials = 68; nnoise-adjusted-trials = 70), and (B) noise treatment (nquiet-trials = 69; nnoise-trials = 69). (A) Song treatment and (B) noise treatment. Boxes represent the Inter-Quartile Range (IQR), and horizontal lines within boxes represent medians. Vertical lines (whiskers) denote upper and lower quartile ranges. Black dots represent outliers.